
 
Did you know? All Peterborough City Council's meeting agendas are available online or via the 

modern.gov app. Help us achieve our environmental protection aspirations and view this agenda 
online instead of printing it. 

 
CABINET 
 

MONDAY 4 DECEMBER 2023 
4.00 PM 
 
Council Chamber - Town Hall 
Contact – charlotte.cameron@peterborough.gov.uk, 01733 384628 

 
 

AGENDA  

 Page No 

 
1 Apologies for Absence 

 
 

2 Declarations of Interest 
 

 

3 Minutes of Cabinet Meeting - 13 November 2023 
 

3 - 10 

4 Petitions Presented to Cabinet 
 

 

STRATEGIC DECISIONS 

 
5 *Extension of the Learning Disability Day Opportunities Contracts in 

Peterborough 
 

11 - 20 

6 *Extra Care Housing Contract Award 
 

21 - 30 

7 Budget Consultation 2024/25 Launch 
 

31 - 62 

 
 
Any agenda item highlighted in bold and marked with an * is a ‘key decision’ involving the Council mak ing 
expenditure or savings of over £500,000 or having a significant effect on two or more wards in Peterborough.  
These items have been advertised previously on the Council’s Forward P lan (except where the issue is 

urgent in accordance with Section 15 of the Council’s Access to Information rules).  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

1



 
 
 
 
Circulation 
Cabinet Members 
Scrutiny Committee Representatives 
Directors, Heads of Service 
Press 

 
 

 

There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the systems 

are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact  Charlotte Cameron 
on 01733 384628 as soon as possible. 
 

 
Emergency Evacuation Procedure  
In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest es cape 
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral. The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 

responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair. In the event of a continuous alarm sounding remain 
seated and await instruction from the duty Beadle.  
 

Recording of Council Meetings 
Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take photographs and use social media to report the 
proceedings of any meeting that is open to the public. Audio-recordings of meetings may be published on the 

Council’s website. A protocol on this facility is available at:  
 
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pd
f 
 

2

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf


   
 

   
 

 
 

 MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING 
HELD AT 16:00PM, ON 

MONDAY 13 NOVEMBER 2023 
COUNCIL CHAMBER, TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH 

  
Cabinet Members Present: Councillor Mohammed Farooq (Chair), Councillor Howard, 

Councillor Elsey, Councillor Bisby, Councillor Saqib Farooq and Councillor Hiller.  
 
Cabinet Advisor Present: Councillor John Fox and Councillor Harper.  
 
43.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
There were no apologies received.  
 

44.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

  
There were no declarations interest.  

 
45.  MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETINGS HELD ON 16 OCTOBER 2023 
 

The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 16 October 2023 were agreed as a true 
and accurate record. 
 

46.  PETITIONS PRESENTED TO CABINET 
 

There were no petitions presented to Cabinet.  
 

STRATEGIC DECISIONS 
 
47.  Final Report of the Cycling and Walking Task and Finish Group: Local Cycling 

and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) 
 

The Cabinet received a report in relation to Final Report of the Cycling and Walking 
Task and Finish Group: Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP). The 
purpose of this report was for the Cabinet to review and approve the recommendations 
put forward by the Task and Finish Group.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Infrastructure, Environment and Climate Change introduced 
the report and provided an overview of the key points. They also thanked the group for 
their work and noted that the Cabinet would work with Officers to provide a formal 
written response to the scrutiny committee on all recommendations.  
 
The Leader of the Council invited the Chair of the Task and Finish Group to comment. 
The Chair advised that the vision behind the report had been to prioritise modes of 
active travel. The recommendations had been approved at scrutiny in February 2023.  
 
 
 

3



   
 

   
 

Cabinet Members debated the report and in summary responses to questions raised 
included: 
 

 The Cabinet were advised that the Green Wheel still existed and would be used 
to support funding from the CPCA so that connections could be improved. 

 The LCWIP and the Rural Cycle Strategy would build upon the Green Wheel. 

 There were concerns raised about the maintenance of existing routes and 
Officers advised that this was a real challenge and areas would be inspected 
with appropriate maintenance plans put in place. 

 The Mayor, who had been a member of the group, urged the Cabinet to 
recognise the significance of what had been put forward.  

 It was advised that recommendation 12 of the group contradicted 
recommendation 8. 

 It was highlighted that the hierarchy of users would need to be considered to 
not create competition between them. 

 The Cabinet agreed that the north and the south should be connected but were 
not convinced that Bridge Street was the answer. 

 There were considerations for the reintroduction of the cycle lane over Crescent 
Bridge and the Cabinet would seek further data on whether there would be a 
significant impact.  

 The Chair of the group advised that there are various places that had cyclists 
and pedestrians in the same place and acknowledged that robust plans would 
need to be drawn up.  

 The footfall outside of shops, the expansion of the market and street furniture 
would need to be looked at when considering a cycle path through Bridge 
Street.  

 The Leader permitted a co-opted member of the group to address the Cabinet. 
They advised that Bridge Street had shared use and that there had only been 
one cycle accident reported in the last 10 years.  

 The report had identified a clear need for a north south cycle route because of 
a lack of connectivity.  

 There were great initiatives within the report and the Cabinet noted the 12 
recommendations and highlighted the need for significant amounts of funding. 

 
The Leader proposed an alternative motion, which was seconded by the Cabinet Member for 
Infrastructure, Environment and Climate Change that Cabinet consider the final report of the 
Task and Finish Group and continue to work with officers to provide a comprehensive 
response to the report to the Scrutiny committee. The vote was UNANIMOUS, and the 
alternative recommendation was CARRIED.  

 
 
48.  AUTHORISATION FOR MILESTONE INFRASTRUCTURE LTD TO UNDERTAKE 

CONSTRUCTION OF ACTIVE TRAVEL IMPROVEMENTS ON THORPE WOOD 
 

The Cabinet received a report in relation to the Authorisation for Milestone 
Infrastructure Ltd to Undertake Construction of Active Travel Improvements on Thorpe 
Wood  
 
The Cabinet Member for Infrastructure, Environment and Climate Change introduced 
the report and provided an overview of the key points. 
  
Cabinet Members debated the report and in summary responses to questions raised 
included: 
 

4



   
 

   
 

 The Cabinet noted that this had been great news and congratulated Officers 
on the success of the bid.  

 
Cabinet considered the report and RESOLVED to: 
 

1. Authorise the works order of up to £2,000,000 to Milestone Infrastructure Ltd to 
undertake construction of active travel improvements on Thorpe Wood, under the 
existing Peterborough Highways Term Services Contract.  
 

2. Authorise the Director of Place & Economy to vary the works order value when 
required subject to;  
a. available budget being in place;  
b. the total sum of each variation not exceeding £100,000, 
c. the combined value of any authorised variation(s) do not exceed the total sum of 

 £500,000.  
d. any variations are to be made in prior consultation with internal audit, finance and 

  legal services 
 
REASONS FOR THE DECISION  
 

To ensure that the Council can deliver grant funding for the active travel improvement 
scheme.  
 
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

There were no alternatives considered as improvements to the network were  
 required. 
 
49.  CONTRACT AWARD FOR THE PETERBOROUGH ADULT ADVOCACY 

SERVICES 
 

The Cabinet received a report in relation to the Contract Award for the Peterborough 
Adults Advocacy Service. The purpose of this report was to approve the contract and 
enter a section256 agreement with the ICB.  

 
The Cabinet Member for Adults and Health introduced the report and provided an 
overview of the key points.  
  
Cabinet Members debated the report and in summary responses to questions raised 
included: 
 

 There were no questions. 
 
Cabinet considered the report and RESOLVED to: 

 
1. Award a contract for the Peterborough Adult Advocacy Services to 

POhWER,(registered company 03323040) following a successful procurement for a 
period of 3 years with the option to extend for a period of 1 year, from 5 February 
2024 for a value of £897,966.12 (Contract year 1 value £242,880.78 and contract 
year 2, 3 and 4 value £218,361.78 per annum).  
 

2. Authorise Peterborough City Council to enter into a Section 256 Agreement with the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Integrated Care Board for a contribution to costs 
associated with Peterborough City Council providing Adult Advocacy Services within 
Peterborough for a period of 3 years with the option to extend for a period of 1 year, 

5



   
 

   
 

from 5 February 2024 for a value of £153,980.57 (Contract year 1 value £41,649.79 
and contract year 2, 3 and 4 value £37,443.59 per annum). 
 
REASONS FOR THE DECISION  
 

To ensure that there was continued advocacy support for the residents of 
Peterborough. 
 
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
The continue with current arrangements or to terminate provision would have been a 
breach of regulations therefore there were no alternative options considered.  

 
 

50. AWARD OF CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE HOME & COMMUNITY SUPPORT 
BLOCK CONTRACTS AND AWARD OF HOME & COMMUNITY SUPPORT PSEUDO 
DYNAMIC PURCHASING SYSTEM CONTRACTS 
 

The Cabinet received a report in relation to the Award of Children & Young People 
Home & Community Support Block Contracts and Award of Home & Community 
Support Pseudo Dynamic Purchasing System Contracts.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services introduced the report and provided an 
overview of the key points.  
  
Cabinet Members debated the report and in summary responses to questions raised 
included: 
 

 There were no questions.  
 

Cabinet considered the report and RESOLVED to: 

 
1. Approve the award of 3x Children/Young People Home & Community Support block 

contracts, each with a contract term of 3 years with an option to extend up to 2 years 
in increments of 12 months from the 01.02.2024, as follows:  
 
1.1. to Circles Network (Company number: 02972700), with a value of £50,000 per 

 annum (£250,000 for the contract term including extension period).  
1.2. to Sabanu Care Ltd (Company number: 12922944), with a value of £50,000  

 per annum (£250,000 for the contract term including extension period).  
1.3. to Greenhill Healthcare Ltd (Company number: 13796928), with a value of  

 £50,000 per annum (£250,000 for the contract term including extension period).  
 

2. Approve the award of the Children/Young People’s Home & Community Support 
Pseudo Dynamic Purchasing System (PDPS); the contract term is 5 + 3 + 2 years 
and has an overall contract value of up to £10,000,000 over the whole contract term 
(including 2 extension periods). The list of approved providers are outlined in 
Appendix 1.  
 

3. Delegate approval to the Executive Director Adult Social Care & Commissioning to 
extend the Contract Term up to 10 years (for the PDPS) in accordance with the 
contract provisions.  
 

6



   
 

   
 

4. Delegate approval to the Executive Director Adult Social Care & Commissioning to 
extend the Contract Term for each or any of the 3x block contracts up to 5 years (per 
block contract) in accordance with the contract provisions.  
 

5. Delegate approval to the Executive Director Adult Social Care & Commissioning to 
agree to an uplift (per annum) on the hourly rate; subject to internal governance 
arrangements and the value given in the published Contract Notice 
 
REASONS FOR THE DECISION  
 

The Home and Community Support is a statutory service, and the current needs of 
children/young people would not be met without the new provision.  
 
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

There were various options considered, however, they were rejected as they did not 
 meet the needs of Peterborough residents.  
 
51. LOCALITIES ASSETS REVIEW  
 

The Cabinet received a report in relation to the principles and findings of the Locality 
Assets Review.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Finance introduced the report 
and provided an overview of the key points.  
 
The Executive Director of Corporate Services highlighted that these were plans for 
consideration and that Cabinet were not being asked to approve sites for disposal.  
 
The Leader of the Council allowed the Leader of the Liberal Democrats to speak to the 
report. The Leader of the Liberal Democrats raised concerns that the list of assets had 
grown and questioned how all the stakeholders would be engaged with.  
 
The Executive Director of Corporate Services assured that there would be sufficient 
communication and engagement and reiterated that no decisions had been made.  
  
Cabinet Members debated the report and in summary responses to questions raised 
included: 
 

 It was noted that this had been inherited from the last administration. 

 Each site would be reviewed and looked at whether it could be repurposed or 
modernised. 

 Where disposal would be needed, the right people would be consulted with, 
and savings could be spent on the improvement of nearby facilities.  

 
Cabinet considered the report and RESOLVED to: 

 
1. Note the Localities Asset Review report contained in the exempt Appendix 1.  

 
2. Agree that Estates and Finance, following a period of engagement with the public, 

the operators of the sites as well as elected members, and dependant upon the 
outcome of that engagement, looks to dispose of those locality assets highlighted in 
the report as being potentially suitable as surplus to requirements and for 
repurposing up to a maximum disposal price of £500,000. This is subject to any final 

7



   
 

   
 

terms to be delegated to the Executive Director of Corporate Services and Director 
of Legal after consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Property.  
 

3. Note that where any proposed sale of an asset is in excess of £500,000 it will be 
brought back to Cabinet for specific approval to dispose on a case by case basis.  
 

4. Note that, on a case by case basis, a proportion of the savings in revenue are 
ringfenced to be invested in the remaining assets to support the proposals in the 
report.  
 

5. Note that, on a case by case basis, a proportion of the Capital receipts may be 
ringfenced to fund the costs of sale, costs of relocation and repurposing of assets 
and investment into the retained portfolio.  
 

6. Note that Directors will report to Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee in January with further details of the proposed Locality Asset Review 
recommendations and timings following further consultation.  
 

7. Approve the Draft Community Asset Transfer Policy contained in Appendix 2. 
 
REASONS FOR THE DECISION  
 

The decision would allow for a smaller portfolio of assets and support an investment 
plan that would mean retained assets were fit for purpose.  
 
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

There were no other viable options.  
 
52. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2024-2027 QUARTER 2 UPDATE 

 
The Cabinet received a report in relation to the Medium-Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) and budget setting process. 
 
The purpose of this report was to provide an accurate up to date position on the 
financial challenges facing the Council.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Finance introduced the report 
and provided an overview of the key points.  
  
Cabinet Members debated the report and in summary responses to questions raised 
included: 
 

 There were no comments.  
 

The Chief Executive emphasised the need for transformation and advised that  
 Officers were on top of the budget, but that work was still to be done.  

 
Cabinet considered the report and RESOLVED to: 
 

1. Note the revised financial assumptions included within this Medium-Term Financial 
Strategy 2024-2027 Quarter two update, as outlined within Appendix A of the report. 
 

2. Note the update from the budget simulator 
 

8



   
 

   
 

3. Agree to the updated disposal plan included within Appendix C of this report. 
 
REASONS FOR THE DECISION  
 
The report provided an update on the MTFS and supported the delivery of the Council 
setting a lawful and balanced budget.  
 
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

No alternative options were considered.  
 
 
53. BUDGET CONTROL REPORT SEPTEMBER 2023 - QUARTER 2 

 
The Cabinet received a report in relation to the Budget Control Report. The purpose of 
this report was to provide an update on the Council’s forecast Outturn Position for 
2023/2024.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Finance introduced the report 
and provided an overview of the key points.  
  
Cabinet Members debated the report and in summary responses to questions raised 
included: 
 

 There were no questions.  
 
Cabinet considered the report and RESOLVED to note: 

 
1. The budgetary control position for 2023/24 as at 30 September 2023 which outlines 

a forecast overspend of £6.4m. 
 

2. The key variance analysis and explanations are contained in section 4.2and 
Appendix A to the report. 
 

3. The Council’s performance with respect to Business Rates (NNDR) and Council Tax 
Collection, as outlined within Appendix B to the report. 
 

4. The Council’s Capital Programme performance as outlined in section 4.6. 
 
REASONS FOR THE DECISION  
 
To ensure that Cabinet were briefed on the Council’s Outturn Position.  
 
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
This was not applicable as this report was performance based.  

 
                                                                                                      Leader 

4pm – 5pm 
13 November 2023 

9



This page is intentionally left blank

10



 

 
CABINET  
 

 
AGENDA ITEM No. 5 

4 DECEMBER 2023 PUBLIC REPORT 

 

Report of: Stephen Taylor 

Executive Director of Adult Social Care & Commissioning 

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: 

 

 

Councillor Saqib Farooq 

Cabinet Member for Adults Services and Public Health 

Contact Officer(s): Ruth Miller, Senior Commissioning Manager  

Harriet Rowe, Commissiong Manager  

Tel. 07484 520821 

 

 

EXTENSION OF THE LEARNING DISABILITY DAY OPPORTUNITIES 

CONTRACTS IN PETERBOROUGH 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
FROM: Cabinet Deadline date: 5th Dec 2023 

 

 
It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 
Approve an extension to the following Agreements totalling £1,720,563, relating to provision of day 
opportunities for adults with learning disabilities from the 1st April 2024 until 31st March 2025 for the 
following Providers: 

 Thera East Anglia (company number 05566295) 

 THHG Limited trading as Helping Hands Group (company number 07359910) 

 Sense, the National Deafblind and Rubella Association (company number 
01825301) 

 

 
1. ORIGIN OF REPORT 

 
1.1 This report is submitted to Cabinet as this is a decision resulting in expenditure over 

£500,000 and as outlined on the Council’s Forward Plan on 24th October 2023. 
 

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT  
 

2.1 The purpose of this report is to gain Cabinet approval to extend the Contracts for the 
Provision of Day Opportunities from 1st April 2024 until 31st March 2025 for the following 
Providers: 

 Thera East Anglia 

 Sense, the National Deafblind and Rubella Association 

 THHG Limited trading as Helping Hands Group 

 
This will ensure the continuation of the Peterborough Learning Disabilities Day 
Opportunities contracts and allowing the Council to continue their duties under the Care Act 
2014. 
 
The original contracts commenced on 1st April 2017, with a duration of three years to 2020 
and extended to 31st March 2024 thereafter, with a total value of £12,053,369. The 
extension of the contracts will bring the total contract value to £13,773,932. These costs are 

11



estimates rather than actual values, as we only pay for service users who are currently using 
these services and the number of service users may go up or down.   
 

2.2 This report is for Cabinet to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 3.2.1 
 
To take collective responsibility for the delivery of all strategic Executive functions within the 
Council’s Major Policy and Budget Framework and lead the Council’s overall improvement 
programmes to deliver excellent services. 
 

3. TIMESCALES  

  

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan? 

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting  

N/A 

 

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 
 

4.1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 
 

Day opportunities support many adults with learning disabilities and/or autism across 
Peterborough. These services also meet statutory need under the Care Act 2014 including 
promoting wellbeing and they play an important role in early intervention and prevention in 
reducing or delaying the need for formal care and support. Day opportunities provide 
activities for people to meet and learn new skills, access training, develop life and 
workplace skills and gain independence and opportunities to socialise. Activities can 
include: 
 

 Cooking 

 Gardening 

 Arts and crafts 

 Drama 

 Trips out to do group activities 

 Music 

 Physiotherapy 

 Sports 

 Sensory room sessions 

 Work experience 
 
For example, Prita (anonymised) is a 21-year woman with a mild learning disability (LD) and 
autistic spectrum disorder (ASD) who lives with her parents. She accesses support at Thera 
Trust Meeting Place in Peterborough twice a week where she learns life skills such as using 
public transport and job searches, as well as spending time in enjoyable activities such as 
gardening which could also provide skills for employment. This will allow her the opportunity 
to access paid employment.  
 
Peterborough has separate Agreements in place to manage the commissioning of a range 
of day opportunities, across grants, contract agreements and direct payments. Six providers 
successfully applied to deliver LD day opportunities. Currently three of these providers are 
active – Thera East Anglia (Thera), The Helping Hands Group and Sense, National 
Deafblind and Rubella Association (Sense). In September 2023, 93 people were accessing 
these services – 21 at Sense, 43 at The Helping Hands Group and 29 at Thera. It is difficult 
to put a maximum figure on how many people these providers could support for the proposed 
extension period of 1st April 2024 to 31st March 2025, as service users attend from half a day 
a week up to five full days a week. The providers support people with standard and more 
complex needs and offer an alternative to City College Peterborough as the main LD day 
provider in Peterborough.  
 
The Agreements for the Provision of Day Opportunities commenced on 1st April 2017 for a 
period of 3 years, up to 31 March 2020. A further contract extension was agreed until 31st 
March 2024 to align to the timelines of the Adults Positive Challenge Programme and due 
to lack of capacity to reprocure during COVID.  
 

12



4.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.5 
 
 
 
 
4.6 

The Commissioning directorate was previously shared across Cambridgeshire County 
Council and Peterborough City Council. However, there has been a transition to two 
separate services as of 1st August 2023. The adults commissioning and contracts functions 
have also merged in Peterborough City Council, leading to changes in officer roles and 
responsibilities. Due to these changes and the time required to recruit to new roles, a risk 
has been identified that the new team will be highly unlikely to have the resource to complete 
a re-procurement in time for the end of the current contracts.  
 
There is much that is known about day opportunities provision in Peterborough but there 
needs to be significant work undertaken to support the transformation of the service delivery, 
commissioning mechanisms as well as outcomes and impacts achieved by individuals 
accessing these services.  
 
This Cabinet Report is requesting approval for the three Agreements to be extended until 
31st March 2025 (an extension of 12 months) to ensure continuity for service users which 
enables compliance with Care Act duties while allowing the new commissioning team 
sufficient resource for future commissioning activity. The extension period has a value of 
£1,720,563. 

 
5. CONSULTATION 

 
5.1 
 

 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
5.3 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
 
5.5 
 
 

A significant amount of detailed work has been undertaken to gather provider and service 
user perspectives on the vision for day services, barriers to achieving the vision and what 

the Local Authority can do to support day services.  
 
The Adults Positive Challenge Day Opportunities workstream carried out an extensive 
discovery phase, including service mapping and gathering data from day service providers. 
A comprehensive survey of providers was undertaken to gather information that was 
previously unknown about this provider market, including areas such as: 
- Percentage of financial contribution from the Council to operational budgets; 

- Level of need and complexity services are managing; 
- Services carrying out regulated activity; 

- Provider perspective on the vision for day services, barriers to achieving the vision 
and what the Local Authority can do to support day services. 

 
This was complemented by engagement with operational teams within the local authority, 
other local authorities, and Partnership Boards.  
 
The Coronavirus pandemic disrupted the delivery of day opportunities as they closed for 
periods of time in line with Government and Public Health advice. Significant resources 
focused on the requirements needed to safely re-open day opportunities provision to service 
users. Although much of the re-commissioning work planned over this period was not able 
to be delivered due to the focus on the pandemic, a number of key developments were 
undertaken:  

- Increased engagement with day opportunities providers with the introduction of 
a regular monthly forum for OP and LD providers; 

- Service User survey about their use of day services and the alternative support 
required whilst services were closed; 

- Improved level of information provided to the Councils in relation to the support 
offered and numbers of people attending day services. 

  
In 2023, a “what a good day opportunity looks like” document was created using input and 

feedback from the Learning Disability Partnership Board, carers surveys, providers, 1-1 
interviews, Speak Out Council, Enabling Independence, user participation groups, social 
care and community staff and national data from SCIE.  
 
The extension will enable a full contractual review to be carried out building on the 
information gathered to date. The outcome will ensure strategic development of future 

13



services and aligning to carers strategy outcomes and other commissioning work whilst 
ensuring local and County wide market development occurs.  
 

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT  
 

6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.2 
 
 
 
 
6.3 

The extension period will allow time for significant work to be undertaken to support the 
transformation of the service delivery, commissioning mechanisms, and outcomes and 
impacts achieved by individuals accessing these services.  The work to be undertaken 
includes: 
 

 A comprehensive programme of engagement and co-production to define the 
overall vision for the delivery of day opportunities;  

 Prototyping of service interventions, models, and measurable impacts across all 
cohorts; 

 Detailed analysis of day opportunities that service users are currently choosing to 
purchase via direct payments and any gaps in our current arranged provision offer; 

 Embedding and reviewing revised monitoring information to inform future 
specifications and opportunities for transformation; 

 Ensuring the LD Vision outcomes are embedded in the delivery of day opportunities 
and link to priorities such as employment; 

 Determining the most appropriate commissioning options across all provider 
markets. 

 
The work will produce some clear benefits for the transformation of day opportunities. It will 
enable the Council to move services towards meeting both current social care needs but 
also a more clearly defined preventative agenda to support a demand management 
approach for Adult Social Care.   
 
The benefits of this programme of work will be realised through the following outcomes: 
 

 Clearly defined preventative and social care offer delivered through a process of 
co-production and linked with Children’s and Young People’s and Education 
services; 

 Conducting a successful commissioning exercise to procure services which will 
meet our defined requirements; 

 Scoping potential for savings or efficiencies through better understanding of the 
market and our requirements; 

 Ensuring there are appropriate contractual arrangements in place to govern the 
services and to monitor outcomes and impact; 

 Increased understanding of day opportunities demand, capacity and service 
requirements; 

 Enabling service users to access a range of day opportunities depending on their 
outcomes, hobbies or interests.  

 
7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION 

 
7.1 The reason for the recommendation is to ensure there is sufficient time to review day 

opportunities outcomes and co-produce a new model of service delivery with service users 
and allow the Council to continue to fulfil its duties under the Care Act 2014 without a break 
in service provision. This will also allow for a compliant procurement process to be conducted 
in accordance with both local contract rules and UK Legislated Public Contract Rules. 
 

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

8.1 
 
 
 

 Do Nothing - The contracts will lapse and if services continue to be received, they will 
be on implied terms, which increases the contractual and reputational risk to the Council 
and puts service users at risk through lack of protection under implied terms. 

14



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.2 

 Contract Termination - Ending the contracts and not completing a compliant 
procurement process and therefore having nothing in place. This could mean the 
Council is in breach of its duties under the Care Act 2014: to meet people’s assessed 
needs, promote wellbeing and reduce or delay the need for more intensive support such 
as respite and residential care.  

 Tender the Requirement - To seek to reprocure the requirements at this time would mean 
that meaningful engagement and co-production could not be undertaken due to the time 
constraints. The Council may not be commissioning services that best meet the needs 
of individuals or explore efficient models of delivery. Therefore, the re-procurement 
should be delayed until the completion of the review process to ensure that the future 
contractual provision is strategically aligned to the desired outcomes. 

 
Over 93 people use day services across Peterborough and not providing services would 
leave people with unmet assessed needs under the Care Act 2014. 

 
9. IMPLICATIONS 

 
 Financial Implications 

 
9.1 Total value for 12 months of £1,720,563. This has been allocated and budgeted for in 

2024/25 and there is no pressure as a result of this extension.  
 
Sense, Thera and The Helping Hands Group are all funded from the ISP budget and are 
therefore spot purchased. This would mitigate the risks around funding through a block 
contract whereby full payment is required whether the service is delivered or not. The 
funding would be flexible to accommodate demand and offer up potential efficiencies 
when services are not delivered.  
 
Current cost is broken down as follows: Sense £443,518.22 per year, THHG £693,914.40 
per year and Thera £583,130.47 per year.  A service user is free to choose the provider, 
the Council only pays for the services people actually use and, therefore, these numbers 
may go up and down for each Provider. 
 
The option to extend under existing terms provides value for money for the Council as the 
2023/24 rate is being continued. There is a risk that if we were to go to market now, we 
would have to award the services at a much-increased rate; previous tenders have 
demonstrated the market is unpredictable due to the ongoing cost of living crisis and rises 
in inflation – resulting in suppliers inflating their bids to cover fluctuating costs.  

 
 Legal Implications 

 
9.2 Section 5 of the Care Act 2014 places a general duty on the Council to promote the efficient 

and effective diversity and quality in the provision of services. The Council must have regard 
to section 5(2) Care Act 2014 and, in particular, the need to ensure that the Council is aware 
of the current and likely future demand for services and to consider how providers might 
meet that demand, the importance of ensuring the sustainability of the market and have 
regard to the importance of promoting the well-being of adults in its area with care and 
support. 
 
The Council must have regard to this general duty in its decision-making on this issue and 
by extending the Agreements in accordance with his report, the Council can ensure it is 
meeting its duty under the Care Act. 
 
Where the Council awards a contract (either via an extension or a new contract) it must also 
have regard to its duty under the Public Contract Regulations 2015, i.e. to procure for 
services lawfully. The EU threshold for this is £663,450. The Council has been advised that 
the procurement regime applies.   However, unless the Council extends the existing contract 
or enters into a new contract for the services, in the interim period, pending a viable 

15



procurement exercise, there will be no contract(s) in place to deliver the essential services 
and meet its obligations under the Care Act.  
 
The extension will be classed as a variation to the original contracts because the extension 
period has not been provided in the original contract Term.  However, this extension period 
is in accordance with Regulation 72(1)(e) of the Public Contract Regulations 2015 because 
the modifications, are not substantial.  The extension period is delivery of the same services 
that were originally tendered, and the terms and conditions will be unaltered; accordingly, 
the variation does not  
(a) render the contracts materially different in character from the one initially concluded; or 
(b) introduce new conditions which, had they been part of the initial procurement procedure, 
would have— 
(i)   allowed for the admission of other candidates than those initially selected, 
(ii)  allowed for the acceptance of a tender other than that originally accepted, or 
(iii) attracted additional participants in the procurement procedure; or 
(c) change the economic balance of the contracts in favour of the contractors in a manner 
which was not provided for in the initial contracts;  
(d) extends the scope of the contracts; and 

(e) award the contract to new contractors. 
 

 Equalities Implications 
 

9.3 An equality impact assessment has been undertaken to ensure that the service provided to 
people with Learning Disabilities is compliant with the Care Act 2014. 
 

 Carbon Impact Assessment  
 

9.4 Neutral Impact - Extending the LD day opportunities contracts in Peterborough will have a 
neutral impact on carbon emissions and environment. This is a continuation of services so 
the impact should remain the same. 

 
10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 
 

What a Good Day Opportunity Looks Like, attached to the report as an appendix.  
 

11. APPENDICES 
 

11.1 Appendix 1 - What a Good Day Opportunity Looks Like 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

16



 

What a good Day Opportunity looks like 

 

A Day Opportunity is a service that supports people 

to do things during the day. The day opportunity might 

be in a building or in the community. It can include 

what people do at weekends and in the evenings. 

 

A good Day Opportunity: 

✓ Supports people to be a part of the community 

 

✓ Supports people to socialise and make friends 

 

 

✓ Asks people who use the service to help design 

it. This should include what happens at the 

service, helping to choose the staff who work 

there and how the service works. 

✓ Gives people choices, including listening to ideas 

from people who use the service 

✓ Listens to people 

✓ Supports people to do new things if they would 

like to. 

 

✓ Should focus on what people can do and not 

what they can’t do 

✓ Supports people to be as independent as 

possible, including offering travel training. 

✓ Offers different activities including how to use a 

tablet or smartphone 

17

AAV596
Typewritten text
Appendix 1



 

✓ Has respectful staff who have a good sense of 
humour and are caring and support people well.   

✓ Makes sure people feel safe 
✓ Offers people the opportunity for peer support, 

people can learn how to support each other. 

 

A Day Opportunities offer means the different types 

of Day Opportunities that people can choose from. 

 

A good Day Opportunities offer:  

✓ Includes different types of day opportunities 

✓ Gives people a choice to be in a building that is 

not only used by people with learning disabilities 
✓ Includes an option of having support in the 

evening or weekends  

✓ Includes employment support options  

 

 

We understand that some people have more complex 

support needs. 

Complex support needs mean people need a high 

level of support with lots of things in their daily life.  

 

 

What good looks like to people with more complex 

support needs might be different.  

 

18



 

We will do some more work on what good looks like for 

people with more complex needs. We will listen to the 

family carers and people who support people with 

complex needs. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Claire Cluer Commissioning Manager, Speak Out 
Council and Enabling Independence. 
Date: 27/02/23 
 
 
 
 
 
Data: collected from interviews with people who use 
services, carers, social care and community staff and 
national data from SCIE Having a good day? A study of 

community-based day activities for people with learning 
disabilities (2007) 

 

19



This page is intentionally left blank

20



 

 
CABINET 
 

 
AGENDA ITEM No. 6 

4 DECEMBER 2023 PUBLIC REPORT 

 

Report of: Stephen Taylor, Executive Director of Adult Social Care & 

Commissioning  

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor Saqib Farooq, Cabinet Member for Adults Services and 
Public Health  

Contact Officer(s): Ruth Miller, Senior Commissioning Manager  Tel. 07484520821 

 

EXTRA CARE HOUSING CONTRACT AWARD  
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
FROM: Cabinet   Deadline date: 4TH Dec 2023  

 

 
It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 
Approve the award of a care and support contract  to Atlas Care Services Ltd, for three extra care 
schemes: The Pavilions, Friary Court and The Spinney; with an annual value of £1,711,454; to begin 1st 
April 2024 for a period of three years, with an option to extend, at the sole discretion of the Council for 
up to two years, with a total contract value of £8,557,270.  

 

 
1. ORIGIN OF REPORT 

 
1.1 This report is submitted to Cabinet as this is a decision resulting in expenditure over £500,000 

and as outlined on the Council’s Forward Plan.  
 

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT  
 

2.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval to award the care and support contract for three 
extra care housing schemes in Peterborough: Friary Court, The Pavilions and The Spinney, to 
Atlas Care Services Ltd.  
 
The contract will run from 1st April 2024 to 31st March 2027, with the option to extend up to two 
years (at the sole discretion of the Council) to 31st March 2029. The value per annum is 
£1,711,454, and includes per scheme: 
 

 Housing Related Support: ensuring there are two people on site at any one time during 
the day and providing activities within the schemes.  

 Two waking night members of staff, 10pm to 7am, 365 days a year.  

 Spot purchase of hourly care for those residing in the schemes.  
 
To ensure people are kept safe and their assessed needs are met, a new Provider must be 
awarded as the existing contract with Longhurst Group Ltd is due to end 31st March 2024 for all 
three schemes.  

 
2.2 This report is for Cabinet to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 3.2.5:  

 
To make decisions on actions relating to the awarding, assigning and termination of contracts 
over £500k, and waiving or granting exemptions to Contract Regulations where contracts are 

21



39 over £500k, with the exception any time-critical, operational, or routine decision, which may 
be determined by the relevant portfolio holder. 
 

2.3 There is an exempt annex attached to this report that is NOT FOR PUBLICATION by reason of 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of Part 1 of the Local Government Act 1972 because it relates to 
the financial or business affairs (past or present) of a particular person (including the Council).  
The public interest test has been applied to the information contained within this exempt annex 
and it is considered that the need to retain the information as exempt outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing it. 
 

3. TIMESCALES 
  

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan? 

NO 

 

 
4. 

 
BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 
 

4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4 
 
 
 
 

 
 
4.5 
 
 
 

Extra care housing (ECH) are specialist housing schemes for older people that have been 
specifically designed to maximise independence. All tenants have their own apartment with a 
front door and yet also benefit from the availability of the 24/7 onsite care and support service. 
The supportive environment in extra care enables older people to live independently for 
longer. It is an important aspect of the prevention agenda as people’s health and wellbeing is 
maintained thereby delaying or preventing the use of residential care.    
 
Currently, there are five extra care schemes in Peterborough where the Council commissions 
a 24/7 care contract. In three of the schemes (Friary Court, The Pavilions and The Spinney), 
Longhurst are both the landlord and the care provider. The remaining two schemes (St 
Edmunds and Bishopsfield) are not considered as part of this recommendation. 
JUL20/CMDN/18 gave authority for the Council to award the contract to Longhurst for three of 

the five schemes; Friary Court, The Pavilions and The Spinney, for a period of two years and 
seven months and an option to extend for seven months. By way of a further CMDN 
DEC22/CMDN/52, authority was given to extend the contract with Longhurst until the 1st 
December 2024. The Deed of Extension contained a break clause for Longhurst to end the 
Contract on the 31st January 2024, providing they served notice. 
 
In December 2022, it was agreed that the contract would be extended for 1 year 10 months to 
1st December 2024. Initial discussions with the provider had indicated they would be 
supportive of the extension. However, when the contract variation was issued by PCC Legal, 
the provider advised they could not sign the variation for such a long period as there was no 
provision in the contract for the provider to terminate the arrangement, which they required 
due to financial reasons. Therefore, it was agreed that an amended contract variation would 
be issued to give the provider an opportunity to serve notice to terminate the contract on 31st 
January 2024, providing the notice was issued by 1st June 2023.  If this option was not taken, 
the provider would not have been willing to extend the Contract, leaving the Council without 
provision and thus having an impact on the service users and causing the Council to breach 
its duty under the Care Act 2014. 
 
On 31st May 2023, Longhurst handed in their notice in order to invoke the break clause on 
three of the schemes (Friary Court, The Pavilions and The Spinney) due to not being able to 
negotiate an hourly rate that was sustainable for them with the Council. Therefore, in 
accordance with their notice, the existing contract with Longhurst ends 31st January 2024. 
 

Current Situation  
 
Since the termination notice, a fully compliant procurement has been completed in accordance 
with PCR 2015, with 12 bids submitted, seven of which were disqualified due to the selection 
criteria and five bids were evaluated and moderated by a panel. Unfortunately, none of the five 
bids met the quality threshold of 70%, with the highest being 60%. Although the pricing 

22



 
 
 
 
4.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.7 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.8  
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.9 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
4.10 

schedules were not evaluated as part of the tender, it has been noted that all but one of the 
pricing schedules included hourly rates above the Council’s existing ceiling of £18.31ph, 
currently paid to Longhurst for 2023/24. 
 
As none of the providers met the quality threshold, a conversation was held with Longhurst 
Group to understand their requirements in order to continue with the service on uplifted rates, 
under the original contract (as extended) to run until 1st December 2024 and to extend further 
until the 31st January 2025, meaning they would withdraw their notice of termination. 
Unfortunately, Longhurst Group’s Executive Leadership Team did not accept the proposal to 
extend on uplifted rates and instead wish to continue with their notice to terminate and 
withdraw from the extra care housing market completely. However, Longhurst Group have 
agreed to amend their termination to end 31st March 2024, rather than 31st January 2024, to 
allow for more mobilisation time for the new provider.  
 
As a result, discussions were held between commissioning, procurement and legal in order to 
understand the best course of action following the unsuccessful tender exercise. It has been 
agreed that a direct award under the Public Contract Regulations 2015 Reg 32 (2) (c) is the 
best course of action.  Regulation 32(2)(c) allows the Council to direct award, insofar as is 

strictly necessary, where, for reasons of extreme urgency brought about by events 
unforeseeable by the Council and where the time limits for a procurement process under the 
Public Contract Regulations 2015, cannot be complied with. The Council did not foresee that 
no bidders would qualify and if a further procurement process was undertaken at this time, it 
would not be concluded and services mobilised by the 31st March 2024. This would mean 
there would be a break in service, causing the Council to be in breach of its duties under the 
Care Act 2014. 
 
Atlas Care Ltd is a provider under the Council’s current care at home framework and the 
Council has no concerns over the quality of their care. Atlas Care has confirmed they can 
deliver the extra care service at the three schemes, for a period of three years (with the option 
for the Council to extend for up to two years, at its sole discretion). They are unable to deliver 
the service under contract for a lesser period of time due to the cost to implement the services 
and to give the service users the continuity of care they require.  
 
In order to implement the contract, the incoming Provider will need to make substantial initial 
investments at the beginning, which the contract value doesn’t necessarily cover in the 
beginning. The mobilisation of care provision such as this requires a lot of resource from the 
new provider, in order to manage the change for the service users, the staff and the wider 
system. The TUPE terms for the staff include pay above NLW, and above and beyond 
statutory leave allowances. There is also the possible need to recruit and train new staff, 
incurring costs; the setting up of new equipment, IT systems. This collectively results in higher 

upfront costs that will level out through the duration of the contract, resulting in the need for a 
three-year initial term.  
 
The reasoning given by Atlas Care needing the specified contract term are detailed below:  
 

a) Impact of change on service users and their families for each time the contract 
transfers, so the more frequent the change then greater anxiety caused and more 
uncertainty; 

b) Impact of change on staff loyal to the incumbent business for each time the contract 
transfers; 

c) Their price is based on the term of three years and if the term is for a shorter period the 
charge rate would have been set higher to reflect this;  

d) Short term change has an impact on possible CQC inspections and ratings – 
sustainability is a key part of their inspection process so this is possible risk; 

e) Staff do not commit to providers who cannot display longevity and security, therefore 
the possible costs of high sickness levels and numbers exiting the service make the 
financial risks too high on a reduced term; 

f) Atlas Care have spent additional monies in their branch offices on more robust internet 
links and Wi-Fi and will order tablets etc. for staff to work from; this is in line with the 

23



social care digitalisation programme, however these upfront costs are not recoverable 
in under the term originally set (again unless the hourly rate is significantly re-worked); 

g) There would be significant costs to the Council to re-tender again and this may clash 
with other possible high profile tenders (Domiciliary Care     
 

5. CORPORATE PRIORITIES 
 

5.1 Consider how the recommendation links to the Council’s Corporate Priorities : 
 

1. The Economy & Inclusive Growth  

 Environment  
o Carbon Impact Assessment: Following completion of the Carbon Impact 

Assessment, no specific implications have been identified. 
2. Our Places & Communities  

 Health and Wellbeing: This provision supports the health and wellbeing of 
residents by providing services for people with care needs to achieve better 
outcomes.  

3. Prevention, Independence & Resilience  

 Adults: this provision allows people to remain living as independently as 
possible for longer and prevents admission into residential care.  

 
Further information on the Council’s Priorities can be found here – Link to Corporate Strategy 
and Priorities Webpage 
 

6. CONSULTATION 
 

6.1 A survey of the residents of the extra care housing schemes was used to inform the 
specifications for the tender. Soft market testing was undertaken in July/August 2023 to 
understand the market appetite for extra care and inform the method questions. Due to the 
limited time and the ending of shared services, consultation was limited to the above for this 
particular contract.  
 

6.2 The remaining two of the five schemes (St Edmunds and Bishopsfield) end in February 2025 
and will need to be tendered in 2024. There will be learning from this tender and engagement 
with the market will play a key role in a successful procurement next year. We will also have 
more time to prepare and create a specification that better meets the needs of the people in 
ECH and the Council. This will allow us to fully engage with the residents to understand what 
works well and what improvements need to be made. Also, to have the opportunity to engage 
more extensively with the market by means of supplier events to support a better tender 
outcome. 
 

6.3 This recommendation has been considered by the below:  
 Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) yes – 14th November 2023 

 Cabinet Policy Forum (CPF) yes – 20th November 2023 
 

7. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT  
 

7.1 Extra care housing is considered the best option as an alternative for those with care needs 
than going into residential care placements. People can remain independent with accessible 
support, have their own apartment and care can be flexed to personalise the level of care if and 
when their care needs fluctuate. It is also better value for money as residential settings are 
significantly more expensive than extra care housing.  
 
As a result of this contract, people will be cared for in their extra care housing, ensuring the 
Council meets its statutory duty under the Care Act 2014.  
 
 
 
 

24

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/strategies-policies-and-plans/council-strategies/corporate-strategy
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/strategies-policies-and-plans/council-strategies/corporate-strategy


8. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION 
 

8.1 The incumbent provider is leaving the market and the contract for extra care is ending 31st March 
2024. Therefore, the Council must award another provider of care in the three schemes to fulfil 
the duties outlined in the Care Act 2014. The procurement exercise was not successful, which 
the Council did not foresee, therefore the recommendation to utilise Regulation 32(2)c of the 
Public Contract Regulations 2015 allows the Council to direct award a contract that ensures no 
break in provision for vulnerable people with care needs.  
 

9. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

 
9.1 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Option 1. Remove or reduce the quality threshold and award on price. 

Benefits  Risks  

No need to complete 

another tender, 
immediately; leaves us 
enough time to mobilise 
new contract; won’t have 
to tender new contract 
for three years, or five 
years if extension is 
invoked; no break in 
service provision.  

There is a risk of challenge if we reduce the quality threshold 

to allow for some of the bidders to get through, and others not. 
A question over how we would decide what the new quality 
threshold was, and in addition to this, there was no mention of 
being able to reduce or amend the quality threshold in the 
original tender documents. There are risks associated if the 
Council awarded to one of the five bidders on price alone, 
because the award is not in accordance with tender 
documents (there is risk of challenge from providers who bid, 
Longhurst Group for leaving them no choice but to terminate 
based on costs being unsustainable and the Council now 
paying above what they asked for); reputational damage for 
failing procurement and awarding on cost alone and not on 
quality of care; the duty of care placed on Councils within the 
Care Act 2014 is greater than duties under procurement 
regulations; the  bid with the lowest price did not meet the 
minimum quality standard and therefore runs risk in failing 
within mobilisation as well as the quality of service delivery 
resulting in a high likelihood of provider failure and an adverse 
impact on the service users.  
 

 
 

Option 2 (preferred). Direct award to Atlas Care Ltd, under Regulation 32(2)c. Inform the 
bidders they were not successful as they did not meet the quality threshold.  

Benefits  Risks  
We know the standard of care Atlas Care Ltd 
are currently providing for care in the 
community is acceptable; there is very little 

risk of challenge, although not zero; less 
resource heavy than completing a 
mobilisation or full tender; ensures no breaks 
in provision. It also means we can retender 
for the other two schemes in 2024 for a 
period to end when this contract ends (1st 
April 2027), so the contract live/end dates will 
coincide with one and other. When April 2027 
comes, all five contracts will be due and 
extension or a retender.  

There is still a low risk of challenge due to 
the nature of direct awarding.  

 

25



 
9.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.4 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Option 3. Complete another procurement exercise to get a provider that meets the quality 
threshold.  

Benefits  Risks  

We will be able to get another 
provider in place in accordance 
with the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015, and we could 
have a contract to last longer; 
the new provider will meet 
quality standards, with little risk 
of failure;  

With the existing contract ending 31st March 2024 we 
have limited time to complete another full tender and 
we would have no mobilisation time for the new 
provider. This would result in a break in provision of 
approximately six to twelve months, that could be costly 
to the Council in terms of internal staffing costs to run 
the tender, as well as finding spot care to cover the 
costs of care provision.  

 
 

Option 4. Do nothing.  

Benefits  Risks  

No additional resources needed. 
Allow contract to end and do no more 
commissioning. Cost savings as we 
won’t be paying for the block contract.  

There will be no care in place for vulnerable 
people living in ECH, resulting in risk of harm to 
them. We will be failing to meet our duty of care 
under the Care Act 2014.  

 

10. IMPLICATIONS 
 

 Financial Implications 
 

10.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
10.2 

The existing rates for Longhurst Group were uplifted for 2023/24, following a period of stagnation 
in rates. There was no contractual uplift, and the provider did not request any for a number of 
years. This resulted in the Council paying significantly lower rates than the active market rates 
and the service being unsustainable. The request for the uplifted rates for the schemes was 
rejected and as a result, the provider exercised their right to issue notice of termination of the 
contract. This led to a full procurement exercise being undertaken, which has heavy cost 
implications in itself in terms of Council resource, which was unsuccessful. The bids also 
demonstrated providers asking for much higher rates for the provision than we were paying or 
would have paid Longhurst Group if we had agreed their uplift. This has resulted in entering into 
a new contract, with a new provider, under a much higher set of rates. There is also 
consideration needed for the regular payment of the incoming new care provider to the landlord 
(in this case Longhurst group) for the rental, maintenance and cleaning of the staff communal 
areas within the schemes. This is a cost of approximately 52 to 67 pence per hour on the spot 

purchase of care hourly rate, depending on the scheme to cover fees.  
 
The cost for Longhurst Group to run the three schemes was used to budget for 2023/24 and for 
the 2024/25 business planning. Awarding to Atlas Care creates a pressure of £249,289.13 per 
annum, details of which can be found in the exempt annex. The three schemes won’t be 
considered for an uplift in 2024/25, so the inflation budget allocated to them will go towards 
accounting for some of the spend, however this will not cover the majority of it. Serious 
consideration for uplifts in 2025/26 would need to be had; as the contractual terms will not 
include a guaranteed uplift, any uplifts are at the Council’s discretion and it would not be 
unreasonable to presume the submitted rates were to cover the costs through the contracts 
entire duration – or at least the first term of three years from April 2024 to 2027. With this in 
mind, the costs over the lifetime of the contract should equal out, providing we are scrupulous 
with uplifts.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

26



 Legal Implications 
 

10.3 To direct award to Atlas under Regulation 32(2)(c) of the Public Contract Regulations 2015 is 
compliant. The Council can demonstrate that insofar as is strictly necessary where, for reasons 
of extreme urgency brought about by events unforeseeable by the Council, the time limits for 
the open or restricted procedures or competitive procedures with negotiation cannot be 
complied with without there being a break in service. The Council has a high duty of care under 
the Care Act 2014 and must ensure it has the required service in place to meet the needs of the 
service users. 
 

 Equalities Implications 
 

10.4 People receiving extra care housing and the staff who work there may be part of marginalised 
groups or those with protected characteristics. As a result, the Council complete due diligence 
checks upon award of contracts and regular contract monitoring visits and analysis to ensure 
people are treated fairly and equally, and there are policies and procedures in place and being 
used correctly to support people and ensure nobody is discriminated against.  
 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
 

11.1 None.  
 

12. PROCUREMENT DN NUMBER - DN675403 
 

13. APPENDICES 
 

13.1 Exempt Annex 
 
 
 

 
 

27



This page is intentionally left blank

28



Document is Restricted

29

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

CABINET AGENDA ITEM No. 7  

4 DECEMBER 2023 PUBLIC REPORT 

 

Report of: Service Director Financial Management & Deputy s151 Officer 

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor John Howard, Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate Governance  

Contact Officer(s): Emma Riding, Service Director - Financial Management & Deputy 
s151 Officer 

Amanda Rose, Head of Communications 

Tel.  452520  

 

 

BUDGET CONSULTATION 2024/25 LAUNCH 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
FROM: Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate Governance Deadline date: N/A 

It is recommended that Cabinet approves: 

The launch of the Budget Consultation 2024/25 from 4 December 2023, closing on 7 January 2024. 
 

 

1.0 ORIGIN OF REPORT 

1.1 This report comes to Cabinet as part of the council’s process for developing a sustainable Medium Term Financial 
Strategy covering the period 2024-2027 and revenue budget for 2024/25.  

2.0 PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT 

 

2.1 

Purpose  
 
This report is submitted for Cabinet to consider under Part 3, Section 3, Executive Delegation 3.2.1, “To take 
collective responsibility for the delivery of all strategic executive functions within the council’s major policy and 
budget framework and lead the council’s overall improvement programmes to delivery excellent services.” 

 
2.2 
 
 
 
 
 

In the event that Cabinet approves the recommendation, the Chair of the Growth, Resources and Communities 
Scrutiny Committee and the Monitoring Officer have agreed a waiver of call-in procedures for the decision to 
suspend the 3-day call-in period. This is in order for the public consultation to run for as long a period as possible, 
given the limited time period for the budget consultation and to ensure that those who wish to engage have 
every opportunity to do so before the budget is finalised. 
 

2.3 
Overview 

In July, Cabinet considered the council’s forecast budget for 2024/25; this identified a forecast budget gap of 
approximately £5.1m, based on the latest funding and inflationary assumptions available at the time.  

However, since then the council has been progressing its budget setting process. Although the development of 

savings, efficiencies and transformation is going in the positive direction, challenges remain. The rates of 

inflation have been reducing at a slower rate than expected, coupled with National Living Wage assumptions 

being higher than expected. Additionally demand for services such as Children ’s Social Care and housing, 

31



  
 

particularly temporary accommodation, has increased. This has meant that the forecast budget gap for 
2024/25 has risen to £6.2m. This was outlined in the MTFS Q2 report to Cabinet in November.  

The corporate leadership team will continue to work closely with our Cabinet and all members to identify ways 
that we can make savings and transform service delivery. This includes:  

 Continuing to look for ways to reduce spend and get a better deal from those organisations we rely 
on to provide services, including our supply chain.  

 Continuing to transform the way we deliver services, doing things differently in a way that improves 
outcomes and doing more for less or have somebody else doing it cheaper. We are bringing back 
in-house service delivery where it is in the best interests of the council to do so.   

 By reducing our capital programme and selling our surplus land and buildings we have reduced our 
cost of borrowing.  

 Stopping ‘non vital’ services or charging more - as part of this we must consider our statutory 
obligations to those who need our help and support the most.   

 Reviewing the council’s use of agency and interim staff and progressing to permanent recruitment 
where necessary more quickly.  

 
The budget consultation sets out how these actions have taken shape and how we might need to change the way 
we deliver services in the coming financial year to be able to balance our budget and move a step closer to 
becoming a financially sustainable council. 

The following timetable outlines the key meeting dates in relation to the Medium Term Financial Strategy and 
the budget for 2024/25: 

 

Timescales   Update    

10 July 2023 - Cabinet MTFS Quarter 1 Update        

13 November 2023 - Cabinet MTFS Quarter 2 Update    

4 December 2023 - Cabinet   Budget Consultation Launch  

22 January 2024 - Joint Scrutiny 
12 February 2024 - Cabinet 
21 February 2024 - Council 
    

Final budget for 2024/25 and the associated strategies 
MTFS quarter 3 update  
Treasury management  
Capital Strategy  
Asset Management Plan 
Reserves Strategy  
Budget 2024/25 report, including:   

 Council tax resolution   

 Revenue and capital budgets for the following year    
 Section 25 Statement (LG Act 2003, robustness of estimates 

and adequacy of reserves) 

 
 
 
 

32



  
 

 
In addition to the above, all budget proposals including savings, investment and revised financial assumptions 
and consultation feedback are considered within the following groups: 
 

 Budget- Corporate Leadership Team (CLT)- made up of the council’s corporate directors and finance 
officers as support  

 Cabinet Policy Forum (CPF)- informal meeting of Cabinet  

 Financial Sustainability Working Group (FSWG)- Cross-party working group focussed on supporting the 
delivery of financial sustainability for the council. The terms of reference for this group are included 
within the Budget Policy Framework Rules.  

3. TIMESCALES    

  

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan? 

Yes - feedback 
gathered will be used 
to inform the Council 
Budget for 2024/25, to 
be approved at Council  

If yes, date for Cabinet 
meeting  

 4 December 2023 & 12 
February 2024 

Date for relevant Council 
meeting 

21 February 2024 Date for submission to 
Government Dept. 

N/A 

 

3.2 COUNCIL PRIORITIES 
 

 The budget consultation is being launched to gather the thoughts and views on the council’s services and 
proposed direction of travel for the 2024/25 budget. This supports all the council’s priorities, but forms a key 
element of the council’s budget setting process, therefore it is strongly geared towards enabling the council to 
deliver on the following priority: 
 

 Supported by a Sustainable Future City Council - adjust how we work, serve and enable, informed by 
strong data and insight capability and led by a culture of strong leadership.  

4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 Budget Consultation 
This report seeks approval from Cabinet to launch the budget consultation 2024/25, which will be open from 4 
December 2023 through to 7 January 2024.  
 
The council will be seeking the views of residents, businesses, stakeholders and service users, and will do this by 
the following methods of consultation: 
 

 Web-based form on the council website, which includes ten multiple choice and free text questions to 

gather the thoughts and views of residents. 

 Social media will be used to reach out to as many people as possible, directing them to the details and 

web form. 

 Hard copies of the budget consultation can be requested by emailing 

communications@peterborough.gov.uk. 

 Key stakeholders and community groups will be emailed with the budget consultation details and will 
be offered the opportunity to have a briefing on these.  

The feedback received from the consultation will be considered by and reported to the meeting of Joint Scrutiny 
Committee on 22 January 2024, and Cabinet on 12 February 2024, before formally proposing a final budget for 

33

mailto:communications@peterborough.gov.uk


  
 

2024/25 to Council on 21 February 2024. 
Budget simulator 
Additionally, the council launched a budget simulator tool on its website for a six-week period from 19 September 
to 31 October 2024.  The simulator has been set up in an easy-to-use format, allowing users to gain a greater 
understanding of what we spend our money on, and how reducing expenditure or investing in services has 
consequences, or benefits for the council and residents. Users have also had the opportunity to provide 
comments and ideas.  
 
The budget consultation document in Appendix A outlines some of the key messages from this tool. This year the 
simulator received 342 responses, an 83% increase on last year.  
 

5.0 ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT 

5.1 For Cabinet to approve the launch of the budget consultation 2024/25 for residents, businesses and members to 
feed back their views on the council’s services and spending priorities. 

6.0 REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION 

6.1 This report is to seek Cabinet’s approval to launch of the budget consultation 2024/25 on 4 December in order 
to receive feedback from residents, businesses and service users on the council’s services and spending 
priorities.  

7 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

7.1 No alternative option has been considered. 

8.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 Legal Implications 

8.1 This report is seeking approval to launch the budget consultation and there are no legal implications arising from 
what is proposed. This consultation is required so that Cabinet can consider feedback from residents, businesses 
and services users in advance of proposing a Budget for 2024/25. 
 

8.2 Human Resources implications 

No specific implications in this report. 
 

8.3 Equality Impact Assessments  

No specific implications in this report. 
 

8.4 Carbon Impact Assessments  

No specific implications in this report. 

9.0 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  

Quarter 1 MTFS 2024-2027 report (item 13) 
Quarter 2 MTFS 2024-2027 report (item 10)  

10.0 

10.1 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A – Budget consultation 2024/25  

 

 

34

https://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=116&MId=4954&Ver=4
https://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=116&MId=4954&Ver=4
https://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=116&MId=4957&Ver=4


Budget 
Consultation 
2024/25

…let us know what  
you think...

35



2   Budget Consultation 2024/25

Contents
Foreword from the Leader of the Council ........................................ 3

Peterborough’s facts and figures .......................................................... 4

Our priorities ...................................................................................................... 5

Our achievements............................................................................................ 6

Financial position ............................................................................................. 7

The challenge from 2024/25 .................................................................... 8

Our budget principles ................................................................................... 9

Setting council tax ........................................................................................... 11

Budget Simulator feedback....................................................................... 12

Place Services  ................................................................................................... 13

Adult Services .................................................................................................... 16

Children’s Services .......................................................................................... 17

Education .............................................................................................................. 19

Public Health ....................................................................................................... 20

Corporate Services ......................................................................................... 22

Our consultation  ............................................................................................. 24

Budget 
Consultation 
2024/25

Alternative formats: If you require any of the consultation material in an alternative 
format or language, please contact communications@peterborough.gov.uk

36



Budget Consultation 2024/25  3

Foreword from the
Leader of the Council 
Peterborough is a city I care passionately about – it’s the place I have called 
home for most of my life and raised my family.

So, I was humbled and honoured to be voted in as Leader of the Council at the 
Full Council meeting on 1 November.

With a new administration, I want to bring fresh challenge and perspective to the running of the council 
and work closely with officers to achieve the aims set out in our Corporate Strategy, thereby improving 
life in Peterborough for all and building a solid foundation for the city’s future success.

Our relationship with the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority is vitally important 
for Peterborough as it provides both expertise and funding to help deliver many of our priorities. I 
have already spent considerable time with Mayor Dr Nik Johnson and his team, and together we are 
establishing a new, more positive and more productive relationship. More detail about our relationship 
with the combined authority, and why it matters so much, is described later in this document.

In the past year we’ve continued to face unprecedented financial pressures. As a result, the budget 
challenge that we need to meet in 2024/25 has increased and now stands at £6.2m.

Challenges brought about by the pandemic, rising energy, fuel and food prices, and inflationary 
increases are making it difficult for the council to balance its budget, just as it is making it difficult for 
individuals and households to balance theirs.

Demand for our services has continued to rise and we’ve seen particular spikes in the need for temporary 
accommodation and in the number and complexity of cases open to Children’s and Adult Services.

Peterborough is not alone in these challenges. Many other councils are experiencing similar pressures, 
with some issuing warnings that they will have to pause all but essential spending.

In Peterborough the situation is very different – we will meet the challenge and will continue to invest 
in the services that you need to create a better city for all those who live, work and spend time here. 
However, in doing so there will be some difficult decisions that we need to make along the way. 

To help us to understand which services you value the most, we once again asked you to complete our 
Budget Simulator Challenge. Thank you to everyone who took part and shared their opinions. Feedback 
is included on page 12 of this document and you will see it referenced throughout. 

Longer term, I want to work with officers to find a solution to the situation that we find ourselves in year 
after year, which is needing to cut spending to be able to balance our budget. We will achieve this by 
transforming our services, making sure those services we provide meet demand with the budget we 
have available. The council is making strides forward in this area and my cabinet colleagues and I will be 
focusing our efforts on this too.

So please, take the time to tell us what you think. Your feedback will help inform the decisions we make 
when councillors set the budget on 21 February 2024. Your responses are highly valued, and I’d like to 
sincerely thank you for playing your part.

Councillor Mohammed Farooq 
Leader of Peterborough City Council

Budget Consultation 2023/24  3
37



4   Budget Consultation 2024/25

Peterborough’s  
facts and figures

4   Budget Consultation 2023/24

Provisions have been made for a further  
19,440 new homes BY 2036

19,440
We’re growing, we have a 
population of over 215,000 
That’s an increase of over 
30,000 people  
in the past 10 years

765 homes 
have been built in the  
past 12 months

The local economy 
GREW BY 29%
between 2015 and 2021 

PETERBOROUGH 
IS AMONG ONE OF 
THE TOP 15 CITIES 
for the highest number 
of business start-ups26% 

increase in children under 15 years

Over the past  
10 years, there 
has been a

Peterborough is home to  
215,700 residents
The largest proportion of homes fall 
into Bands A and B category (%).

In 2023 
there were 
OVER 
9,600 
BUSINESSES
IN PETERBOROUGH  

As a unitary authority, we have  
nearly 1,900 statutory duties 
and over 130 service areas 
spread across the council 

The past financial year 
has seen a 14% increase 
in the number of  
people of working age  
supported by the council with 
long-term care and support needs14%

Peterborough has a diverse and 
robust economy and is one of the 
fastest growing cities in the UK

More content

We are one of the 
top 10 cities for 
the number of new 
business start-upsTOP 10 

38



Budget Consultation 2024/25  5

Our priorities
In October 2022, city council members signed off a new Corporate Strategy.

Sustainable Future City Council sets out how we will deliver long-term improvements and meet the 
changing needs of residents in the next three years. It is also the council’s response to the geo-political, 
macro and socio-economic challenges being faced in the UK and locally in Peterborough. 

Our City Priorities sets out the proposed direction of travel for the council so that we can deliver our 
long-term vision for the region and our four priority outcomes. It is a positive vision for the city and 
one which will capitalise on the huge opportunities the city presents to us.

• The Economy and Growth - maximising economic growth and prosperity for Peterborough as a 
city of opportunity in an inclusive and environmentally sustainable way, together with our partners 
and communities.

• Our Places and Communities – creating 
healthy and safe environments where 
people want to live, work, visit and 
play, enabled by effective community 
engagement and strong partnerships. 

• Prevention, Independence and 
Resilience - help and support our 
residents early on in their lives and 
prevent them from slipping into 
crisis. 

• Supported by a Sustainable Future 
City Council - adjust how we work, 
serve and enable, informed by strong 
data and insight capability and led by a 
culture of strong leadership.

Through delivering these priorities, our aim is 
to improve life in Peterborough and build a solid 
foundation for the city’s future success.

The starting point is the challenge of finding significant savings over the coming years and to achieve 
financial sustainability – then, we can invest in our city’s future. 

We will do this by delivering a new type of council, which will enable us to manage demand, help 
and support people before they reach crisis point, while finding new ways to tackle inequality in our 
communities by maximising inclusive, sustainable economic growth that benefits everyone. 

When setting our budget, we will do so with our priorities in mind.

39

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/asset-library/sustainable-future-city-council-strategy-2022-25.pdf
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/asset-library/peterborough-city-council-our-city-priorities-october-2022.pdf


6   Budget Consultation 2024/25

Backing business

We handled 766 cases to 
improve food safety and food 
standards in the city.

We maintained 
24,099 streetlights, 
366 like bridges, traffic 
signs and signals, 
bollards and 
drainage 
gullies.

We repaired 
2,877 potholes, 
cleansed 15,190 
gullies and carried 
out highways 
works on 1,366 
different roads, 
footpaths 
and 
cyclepaths.

W
e 

al
so Handed out £6m in 

retail, hospitality 
and leisure relief  
so far this year to 
support businesses

More than 9,300 
households have 
benefited from additional 
support with their council 
tax bills in 2023/24

532 households received a 
£400 Energy Bill Support 
Scheme payment and a 
further 350 received a £200 
Alternative Fuel Payment

Supporting the  
next generation

We supported 63 primary schools, 15 
secondary schools, eight special schools 
and three further education colleges to provide 
education for 41,546 children and young people.

Services for you

We collected 7.1m  
wheelie bins and recycled 
or composted around 41 
per cent of the city’s waste – or 
18,000 tonnes.

We supported over 
16,000 vulnerable 
residents who are 
struggling due to the cost-
of-living crisis, via support 
schemes such as our 
Household Support Fund 
and network of hubs.

We supported  
52 people a month 
with short-term 
reablement to 
recover from a 
hospital stay  
or illness.

Prioritising health 
and wellbeing

Roads and 
transport

We provided 
supermarket 
vouchers for 
children who 
receive free 
school meals.

We funded approximately 10,000 visits 
to children and families by health visitors.

We handled 1,115 nuisance complaints  
about noise, odour and light.

Going green

We planted 4,460 trees  
across Peterborough.

Our achievements  
In the past year we have worked hard to deliver services for everyone in 
Peterborough against a very challenging backdrop.

40



Budget Consultation 2024/25  7

Financial position
When the council set its budget in February 
2023, gaps of £0.5m in 2024/25 and 
£1.1m in 2025/26 were predicted.

The size of these budget gaps has 
gradually increased throughout 
the year because of a number 
of challenges which are largely 
outside of our control. It is a similar 
story for councils nationally.

One of the biggest pressures is 
the demand for services in Adult 
Social Care and Child Protection 
and Family Support Services which 
remains very high. 

In Children’s Social Care, we are 
spending in the region of an 
additional £4m on care for young 
people with very complex needs. 
The number of children under a child 
protection plan has increased from around 
101 in November last year to around 242 
in November 2023. The number of children in 
care is also rising, from 380 in January to 414 as of 
September 2023.

In Adult Social Care, there has been a 59 per cent increase in accommodated care (residential and 
nursing care homes) and a 46 per cent increase in community care (such as home care or day care) 
since 2020.

The number of individuals and families requiring support with housing, particularly temporary 
accommodation, has also remained very high.

Added to this, we continue to face high rates of inflation, which means the cost of delivering services 
remains high. Like many households and businesses, the council faces increased energy costs and rising 
costs of pay for our own staff and those who deliver services on our behalf such as care workers.

At the same time, the funding we receive from Government and from council tax has not kept pace with 
the increasing demand for the services we provide.

As a result, councils nationally are facing increasing pressure on their budgets and a growing number 
have resorted to issuing section 114 notices, which limit spend on all but essential services. Others are 
predicting budget gaps running into tens of millions.

That’s not the case in Peterborough thanks to the hard work of officers and members over the past 
two years. However, huge challenges remain and we must once again make savings to deliver a balanced 
budget in 2024/25. We must also continue our focus on the transformation of services to achieve 
financial sustainability in the long-term.

41



8   Budget Consultation 2024/25

The challenge from 2024/25
The increase in our forecasted budget gap has not taken us by surprise, and we always knew our 
financial position could become more challenging. We have been planning for it and developing 
strategies as early as possible to meet the very steep challenge.

We also know that the way to achieve financial sustainability – being able to provide the services our 
residents need with the budget we have available - is by changing the way we provide services. 

We have set up workshops to look at the key pressures which are challenging our budget the most and 
our transformation plans focus on these areas. Our Independent Improvement Panel has highlighted 
the importance of our transformation work in its latest report, citing it as a critical next step on our 
improvement journey.

Portfolio boards have been established, linked to the four areas of our Corporate Strategy, and they 
are leading on the transformation of services. This works includes the separation of services which have 
previously been jointly run with Cambridgeshire County Council where it is right to do so, for example 
our fostering service. 

We are also looking at where we can better manage demand, in housing and Children’s Services in 
particular. We are also reviewing all the council’s land and buildings and selling those which are no 
longer needed. These efforts should help to reduce the pressure in future years. 

In the past year we have continued to work closely with councillors as part of our cross-party 
Financial Sustainability Working Group, to develop budget saving ideas and explore ways to 
support the council to achieve financial sustainability.

Since December 2021, we have also been working with our Independent Improvement and Panel, who 
are experts in specific fields of local government to challenge, scrutinise and advise on our budget 
proposals to ensure they are robust and provide best value.

Our Chief Executive and his senior leadership team have been working closely with our cabinet 
and all members to identify ways that we can make savings and transform service delivery. This 
includes:

• Continuing to look for ways to reduce spend and get a better deal from those organisations we 
rely on to provide services, including our supply chain.

• Continuing to transform the way we deliver services, doing things differently in a way that 
improves outcomes and doing more for less or have somebody else doing it cheaper. We are 
bringing back in-house service delivery where it is in the best interests of the council to do so.

42



Budget Consultation 2024/25  9

• By reducing our capital programme and selling our surplus land and buildings we have reduced 
our cost of borrowing.

• Stopping ‘non vital’ services or charging more - as part of this we must consider our statutory 
obligations to those who need our help and support the most.

• Reviewing the council’s use of agency and interim staff and progressing to permanent recruitment 
where necessary more quickly.

As this document outlines, we have made significant progress with plans in place to almost meet our 
budget gap, which will allow us to offset inflationary pressures, manage demand, continue to grow and 
develop the city and support those residents who need our help the most. 

That said, the financial climate nationally is so unstable that we must continue our focus and 
indeed some of the plans we are outlining here may change in the coming weeks and months, prior 
to us setting the budget in February.

Our budget principles:
Last year we developed a set of budget principles which underpin the council’s approach to budget 
decisions and seek to limit the impact of budget cuts on the city’s most vulnerable residents. We still 
believe these budget principles are relevant and vital, to ensure a financially sustainable future for the 
council and our residents. Our principles:

• We’ll continue our approach to strong financial management by managing budgets carefully, 
with control on expenditure ensuring the best possible services and value for money for the 
taxpayer.

•  We’ll be responsible and ambitious and strive to become a financially sustainable council by 
developing a robust three-year Medium Term Financial Strategy.

•  We’ll endeavour to improve the council’s financial health and resilience by maintaining the 
appropriate levels of reserves and reducing our borrowing where appropriate. 

43



10   Budget Consultation 2024/25

To achieve this we will:
Increase council tax in line with the maximum referendum limit to ensure the council is best 
placed to continue providing the same range and quality of services.

Continue to find alternative ways of providing services more efficiently and effectively by working 
jointly with partner organisations such as the health sector, the voluntary sector, local 
businesses, and other local authorities.

Take every opportunity to maximise technology, digitalisation and transform working practises to 
make the council more efficient.

Seek to generate additional income by reviewing our sales, fees, and charges, including those for 
discretionary services. 

Where possible, protect services that support the city’s most vulnerable, including adults and 
children’s social care services. However, some of our current services may stop; many will have to 
be delivered differently or reduced. 

Treat our staff with respect. A reduced budget will likely mean the size and composition of our 
workforce will change. We’ll do all we can to retain staff through redeployment and retraining, to 
minimise compulsory redundancies.

Seek to maximise income opportunities from commercial services and investments. 

Maintain a tight grip on our capital expenditure, by maximising grant income and prioritising 
schemes in line with our capital strategy principles- this will contribute towards reducing the 
council’s total borrowing.

Maximise the use and return on our assets (land and buildings). Where assets are no longer 
generating a return, or are surplus to requirements, we will dispose of these ensuring best value 
is achieved. 

Scrutinise all requests for investment to ensure we maximise the return (financial benefits) and 
protect our reserves balance.

Conduct an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) for our budget proposals.

Develop a process which ensures that as part of the council’s overarching budget setting process, 
wherever possible, spending and investment plans are focussed on enabling the council to better 
achieve its corporate objective of achieving net zero carbon by 2030. We will also undertake 
Carbon Impact Assessments (CIA) for all major budget proposals.

Conduct consultations on the tough choices we must make and be transparent with any 
stakeholder groups, groups of service users or staff who may be affected by any cut, reduction, 
or significant change in service provision, and explore with them other ways to provide the 
service. 

Underpinning all of the above we will be open and honest about our financial position with 
our residents, businesses, and service users.

44



Budget Consultation 2024/25  11

Setting Council Tax
The Government has traditionally set a maximum limit for council tax increases that can be introduced 
without holding a referendum. Last year this limit was 4.99 per cent, which can be broken down into 
a 2.99 per cent for general council tax and 2 per cent for the Adult Social Care Precept. 

The Government issued a Local Government Policy Statement last December, which sets out policy  
for both 2023/24 and 2024/25. This outlined that councils would be able to increase council tax up to 
2.99 per cent, in addition to a 2 per cent Adult Social Care precept, without holding a referendum. This 
would mean a maximum increase of 4.99 per cent.

In line with our Budget Principles, we have agreed to increase council tax in line with the maximum 
referendum limit to ensure the council is best placed to continue providing the same range and quality 
of services.

An increase of 4.99 per cent would add £79.36 per 
year (or £1.52 per week) to the city council element 
of the bill for a typical band D property and take the 
total city council element of council tax to £1,666.28 
(or £32.04 per week). 

Such an increase would raise £4.9m per year towards 
the council’s rising costs.

This diagram shows how every pound of our funding is spent, with council tax being our biggest 
source of funding.

44p
Adult social care

33p
Child Protection 
and Family 
Support Services 

3p
Planning and 
development services

2p
Cultural and related services

6p
Environment and 
regulatory services

4p
Central services

5p
Housing services

3p
Highways and 
transport services

2023/24
£m %

Council Tax 95.4 47%

Business Rates 69.9 35%

Revenue Support 
Grant 12.1 6%

Other Grants 25.1 12%

Total 202.5 100%

45



12   Budget Consultation 2024/25

Budget simulator feedback
On 19 September, we launched a budget simulator to give residents the opportunity to learn more 
about the breadth of services we provide and to have a say on where they think we should be 
focusing our spending and making savings.  

The simulator closed on Tuesday 31 October and in total 342 people completed it. That’s an 83 per cent 
increase on the 187 people who completed the simulator last year. 

Community activities and growing the city do not appear to be as important to the people that 
completed the survey.  Similarly, customer services and back-office functions are not as important, 
perhaps as these are not things the residents experience or see the value of in the services they 
receive as they are not visible.

Interestingly, people wanted to, 
on average, increase spend on 
Public Health but that may have 
been skewed as there was not an 
option to reduce it as this funding 
is ringfenced by Government and 
cannot be spent on anything else.

On average people wanted to 
increase council tax by 2.42 per 
cent. This was on top of the 
4.99 per cent increase that was 
approved by members at the Full 
Council meeting in March 2023 and 
would require a referendum with 
the public to implement.

Education  
and children’s 
services

Cleansing, 
waste and 
recycling

Transport 
and roads

Community safety and neighbourhood services
The results show  
that on average  
people wanted to 
broadly protect,  
with reductions of  
2.1 per cent or less, the 
following service areas:

Growing the city Customer servicesCity centre and events

Community engagement 
and cohesion

Back-office 
services

On average, there were 
large reductions proposed,  
of 7.5 per cent or more, for:

We have used the responses 
to the simulator in developing 
this document

46



Budget Consultation 2024/25  13

Place Services 
Our role is to create a place where everyone has opportunities to learn, work, relax, and thrive, 
whilst living in warm, safe and affordable housing in communities which are connected, resilient, 
and sustainable. 

Housing and Communities

Delivering services that help make communities safer and stronger is something which we know 
matters to people and has a direct impact on the quality of life for residents, businesses, and 
visitors to Peterborough. 

We know that many people are finding it hard to make ends meet, and we know there are groups 
of people who need our support more than ever. For example, people who are at risk of becoming 
homeless, and those who are victims of domestic abuse or other crimes. We are so grateful to our 
many voluntary, community and faith sector partners, without whom the level of practical help and 
support we’d be able to offer our residents would be far less significant.

This year, our pilot project to bring together key public and advice services into a single location has 
delivered some encouraging results, including increasing household income for those who accessed 
its services by an average of £1,000 per household. We plan to continue with this approach to make it 
easier for people who need help to get to it quickly and easily by expanding the pilot into other areas 
of Peterborough. 

Requests for help from people in housing crisis are continuing to rise. Last year we predicted a 25 per 
cent increase in the number of people coming to us at risk of becoming homeless, and this has indeed 
been the case this year. However, we have worked hard to find ways to prevent homelessness and 
reduce the need for people to sleep rough on our streets, and, despite demand for help increasing, we 
are making good progress. 

In the coming year we will further increase our efforts to work with residents who are in housing 
difficulty at the earliest possible opportunity, to prevent them becoming homeless in the first place. 
Where this is not possible and there are no other options, we will continue to provide accommodation 
for those who are homeless. 

We will need to reduce the funding we provide to some of our partner organisations who provide 
housing related support to people in temporary accommodation or who are unable to secure a tenancy 
of their own. There are many different ways to make sure everyone gets the support they need, and 
we will work with other council services, such as Adult and Children’s Services, as well as our voluntary 
sector partners, to make sure that support is provided.

In the coming year we will continue to focus our efforts on the city centre, making sure it is a place 
which is vibrant and where people feel and are safe. We will increase our workforce in the city centre to 
make sure that the issues that matter to people, such as anti-social behaviour, street drinking, littering, 
and graffiti are tackled. 

We will also increase the number of stalls in the new city market and deliver a programme of pop-
up markets and other events on Cathedral Square and elsewhere in the city centre. We will need 
to increase some of our parking charges although we will make sure they remain competitive and 
affordable.

47



14   Budget Consultation 2024/25

Our leisure, libraries and heritage services – such as the Museum and Flag Fen – will continue to be 
delivered by Peterborough Ltd, a council wholly-owned company. We need to reduce the costs associated 
with delivering some of these services and will work with our operator to increase the commercial success 
of our leisure services to make sure they do not require any council funding. We will also work with our 
partners to review our libraries and heritage services to make sure they are impactful and cost-effective. 
This might include, for example, placing more public services in our library buildings.

Our regulatory services – trading standards, licensing, and environmental health – ensure the safety of 
our residents and provide advice and support to businesses. We will make small changes to the ways in 
which these services operate to make savings as well as generate more income. We also deliver services 
to a neighbouring council for which they pay a contract fee. That fee hasn’t been reviewed for some 
time and no longer represents best value for the council. We will therefore negotiate to increase the 
fee to cover the full cost of providing those services.

Growth and Regeneration
Our growth and regeneration teams are responsible for growing our 
city in ways that create opportunities for everyone – existing as well as 
new residents – to thrive and prosper.

In 2023, the council invested £1m in creating a growth and regeneration 
Service, and already we are bringing forward development plans for a number 
of sites across our city that have been left behind, including the former TK 
Maxx building on Bridge Street, the Wellington Street and Dickens Street car 
parks, and the area known as Middleholme adjacent to the river close to the 
city centre.

The council also benefits from working closely alongside the Cambridgeshire 
and Peterborough Combined Authority, and together we have already brought 
the new ARU Peterborough University to the city with its third building on campus due to open for 
students next September. We’re also working together to bring forward plans for the next phase of 
growth for the university so we can make Peterborough a place of choice for students in the UK. 

We are progressing at pace with the transformation of our Station Quarter, having secured £48m of 
Government funding via the combined authority, and we are working hard to bring forward plans to 
regenerate the North Westgate area.

We have already transformed our planning service, and, because of increased growth and a national 
increase in the fees that councils will need to charge developers, we predict an increase in fee income 
which will be used to make sure the pace of our growth and regeneration activity can continue. We will 
also transform our building control service so it becomes the service of choice for developers. This will 
generate more fee income which can be used to support the increased demand we will face.

We will be making more effort to attract new employers into Peterborough, including those who 
can offer better paid and permanent employment opportunities. To help those employers see that 
Peterborough is a good place to invest, we will be refocusing our adult skills service, delivered by 
City College Peterborough and mainly funded via the combined authority, so that it helps people with 
few or no formal qualifications or work experience to gain employment. We will do this alongside our 
partners at Peterborough College and ARU Peterborough.

We will continue to develop our new Local Plan, which will set out our strategy and policies to deliver 
growth, alongside our new Housing Strategy. The Housing Strategy will set out our plans to increase 
housing in the city to help address the homelessness challenges we face as well as establish new 
communities and higher value homes for those that want them. 

48



Budget Consultation 2024/25  15

Infrastructure and Climate
Providing the right infrastructure is crucial as the city grows, including a good network of roads, 
footways, and cycleways. We have benefited significantly already from funding made available to 
us by the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority - for example, the new Nene 
footbridge which will link into the proposed extension of the Green Wheel along Thorpe Wood, 
improvements to junction 15 of Nene Parkway, and junction 3 of Fletton Parkway. 

As the city continues to grow and evolve, we anticipate an even stronger relationship with the combined 
authority, particularly in relation to helping shape our public transport, cycling and walking infrastructure. 
We already have a shared commitment to bid for government funding for a flyover at the Wittering junction 
of the A1 to improve safety, as well as funding towards relocating the bus depot from its current site in 
Millfield to a fit for purpose site capable of enabling a fully electrified bus fleet.

We maintain and develop the highway network which includes 
over 930km of roads, 24,000 streetlights, 366 structures (like 
bridges) as well as footways, cycle paths, traffic signs and 
signals, bollards, and drainage gullies. This includes carrying 
out emergency work to repair potholes, broken paving, 
streetlights, and cleaning gullies to keep roads draining well.  
Over the winter months, we grit main routes to ensure people 
can get around safely.

We promote cycling and walking and deal with issues such as speeding 
and parking problems where needed.  

Our highways services are provided by Milestone, and we will continue to make sure that contract, as well 
as our Highways and Transport service overall, delivers value for money for our residents.

We recycle 44 per cent or 32,800 tonnes of the total waste collected though the kerbside collections 
and Household Recycling Centre. We maintain and clean over 1,685km of highway, pathways, cycleways, 
and pedestrianised areas and respond to around 12,000 reports of flytipping and collect in excess of 300 
tonnes of litter each year from street bins. 

The costs to treat the waste that is collected have increased, largely because of inflation, and so we will 
need to spend more money to make sure those services can continue. This includes the costs to treat 
recycled materials, general waste, food waste, and the costs to deliver our Household Recycling Centre. We 
will continue to drive up our recycling rates, which is good for our climate but also economically good for 
the council as treating recycled waste is far cheaper than treating general waste. We will also review our 
membership of a countywide waste partnership, exploring opportunities to reshape our involvement to 
ensure any involvement we have drives real value for Peterborough.

The council has also committed to become a net zero authority by 2030. Reducing our carbon emissions 
will bring a number of vital benefits, including reducing our costs. We are also committed to supporting 
the city to become net zero, which will help to reduce fuel poverty, improve physical and mental health, 
improve air quality, stimulate our economy, and provide jobs to the local area. This is a vision shared by 
our colleagues in the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority, and together we will deliver 
a number of practical projects that help achieve the net zero aspirations we are jointly committed to. 

As a result of the uncertainty in the financial markets globally and the changing climate which is leading 
to more unusual weather patterns, for example extreme heat in the summer and a higher prevalence 
of torrential downpours, the council needs to be prepared to support its residents and to plan for 
emergency situations. We will continue to focus on emergency planning to ensure we are as prepared as 
possible for those situations which are outside of our control.

49



16   Budget Consultation 2024/25

People’s services 
Adult Services
We aim to help and support our residents early on in their lives and prevent them from slipping 
into crisis by ensuring they receive the right level of support at the right time, in the right place 
and from the right person.   

The aim is to keep people as independent and healthy as possible and prevent or delay the need 
for long-term care and support, which is both better for the individual and less expensive than the 
alternative. This is delivered through a range of different services: 

• Early intervention and prevention – supporting people early with targeted information and advice 
and low-level and community support. For example, targeted short-term reablement support at 
home, or equipment that can help people manage at home. 

•  Long-term care and support which is personalised and keeps people connected to their 
communities. For example, regular care coming into the home or residential/nursing care 
placements. 

• Adults at risk are safeguarded from harm in ways that meet their desired outcomes. This year 
we have responded to an average of 241 safeguarding concerns each month.

• Supporting people with care and support when they come out of hospital. This includes 
designing, delivering and commissioning localised, person-centred, and sustainable care services 
to meet their needs. This year, we are supporting an average of 251 discharges from hospital each 
month.

Across the country, councils are finding it increasingly difficult to meet the needs of their adult 
population and Peterborough is no different. The level of demand, the complexity of the care which is 
required, and the rising cost of care have set the bar even higher.

Demand for Adult Social Care services has been increasing for a number of years and is showing no 
sign of slowing down. More and more people are living longer and will require care and support. This 
year, we have received an average of 3,514 contacts per month to our adult early help team, a 3 per 
cent increase on last year. 

There has also been a 59 per cent increase in accommodated care, such as residential care or nursing 
care homes, and a 46 per cent increase in community care since 2020. 

In addition, the care that people require is becoming more complex. This may be an impact of the 
Covid-19 pandemic where people delayed asking for help and support to meet their needs.

The adult social care sector is also impacted by the ongoing high rates of inflation and coupled with 
the increase in the National Living Wage, now at £11.46, the cost of meeting people’s needs is rising. It 
is not just our own costs that are increasing, but those of our providers too who are also impacted by 
inflation and the National Living Wage increase.

Our focus in the coming year is to look for further opportunities to deliver more prevention and 
intervention through the following areas: 

•  Developing a clear digital strategy and implementation plan, focusing on areas such as 

50



Budget Consultation 2024/25  17

automation of back-office functions such as invoicing and more modernised self-service. For 
example, by improving the information we offer online so people can assess themselves what 
they are entitled to. We will also continue to improve the use of technology enabled care (TEC) 
to support people with their care and support needs. This could be things such as lifeline alarms, 
medication reminders and fall sensors. By increasing the use and range of TEC, we can increase 
people’s confidence to live independently and delay the need for more costly long-term provision of 
care. 

•  Working with health colleagues to develop integrated neighbourhoods that will enable prevention 
work to be targeted to the needs of the neighbourhood, recognising that one size does not fit all. 
Data and insight will be better used to understand the needs of a neighbourhood so that services 
can then be commissioned based on local need. 

• Reablement - this delivers short term, goal-oriented support for up to six weeks to help people 
regain their independence when they have been in hospital. We will recruit more frontline workers 
which will enable us to expand the service to support more people in their own homes, preventing 
the need for long-term care which is more costly.  

We also plan to develop a shared lives scheme to support adults with learning disabilities, mental health 
problems or other needs which make it harder for them to live on their own. The scheme matches 
someone who needs care with an approved carer. The carer shares their family and community life and 
gives care and support to the person with care needs. Shared lives schemes are available across the 
country and are an alternative to traditional kinds of care, such as care homes.

We will also be looking at how we can provide daycare services within the community rather than in 
traditional day service settings.

• Within the next 12 months, we are anticipating an inspection by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). 
Therefore, we will be focusing on how we can improve the services that we offer and better support 
our providers to ensure a stable care market, as a result. 

Children’s Services
We have a legal duty (statutory responsibility) to support vulnerable children and their families 
across Peterborough. Our key aim is to protect children and to support families, helping them to 
meet their development goals.

We will be investing even more money into Children’s Services in 2024/25 to be able to meet those 
duties and improve the services that we offer children and families.

In our Budget Simulator Challenge this year, you told us that, on average, you prioritised this area 
above others to balance the budget next year.

The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and the cost-of-living crisis on vulnerable children and families 
means the landscape in which we operate has changed significantly.

Demand for our services has risen sharply and the complexity of the care required for some children 
and young people has increased. This is a trend being seen by many other local authorities and we 
expect it to continue.

In the past 12 months, the number of children who are subject to a child protection plan has increased – 
these are children that need protection, help and support from the council.  At the same time, the number 
of children in our care has increased. This is placing a significant financial pressure on the council’s budget.

51



18   Budget Consultation 2024/25

The council takes its responsibilities for child protection very seriously and it’s only right and proper 
that we invest in this area.

In the current financial year, the council has put additional investment into Children’s Services and this is 
planned to continue in 2024/25.

This additional funding will be used to meet the aims of the council’s action plan to improve the 
services offered to children and families following Ofsted’s focused visit in March 2023. During the visit 
Ofsted assessed the quality of the council’s multi-agency safeguarding arrangements and found areas 
for improvement. This is a multi-agency service managed by the council, police and NHS and is the first 
point of contact when there are concerns about a child.

Following the Ofsted visit, an Improvement Notice was issued by the Department for Education and 
the council was required to establish an Independent Children’s Improvement Board, which has now 
been set up. The board is overseeing and driving improvements to services provided to children by the 
council and its partners and is being led by an ex-Director of Children’s Services and expert in leading 
Children’s Services improvements.

In the coming financial year, we will continue to separate those services which we have previously run 
jointly with Cambridgeshire County Council, where it is in our best interests to do so. Peterborough now 
has its own newly appointed dedicated Executive Director of Children’s Services and the majority of our 
staff are now focused on providing services for Peterborough children and families. 

Plans are progressing to separate the fostering service and the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 
(MASH). Significant investment is needed in the MASH to build a team that can manage demand and 
ensure children are protected.

We recognise the responsibility we have to children in care and we want them to live in homes with loving 
families who can meet their needs. For some children this will be with a foster carer. That is why we are 
investing heavily in our fostering service, to find safe and loving homes for children who can no longer live 

Open Child Protection Plans

N
o 

of
 O

pe
n 

C
P

January 2023 March 2023 May 2023

VALUE

July 2023 September 2023

300

250

150

100

200

121

119

164

163

193

188

219 223
236

242

210 215

113 103101

Open Children in Care
N

o 
of

 O
pe

n 
C

LA

January 2023

380
377 377

385

395

394

416
413

410

406
401

398

417
414

383

March 2023 May 2023

WEEK / MONTH START

July 2023 September 2023

420

400

380

52



Budget Consultation 2024/25  19

with their birth families. We will continue to look to increase the numbers of council fostering placements, 
enabling us to reduce the numbers of children placed in more expensive agency placements. We recognise 
the need to review the offer we can make to encourage people to become foster carers.

The recruitment and retention of staff in Children’s Services remains challenging, as it does for many 
councils. There is a national shortage of social workers. This means the council is using more agency 
staff than it would ideally like to, which is more costly. 

To address this, there are plans to develop a social work academy to support the recruitment and retention 
of social workers. The academy would provide wrap-around support for newly qualified social workers, 
giving them real life experience and the chance to learn from their peers, whilst keeping caseloads 
manageable. Once established this should reduce the council’s need for agency social workers.

We will continue to benefit from the significant Central Government grants being offered to promote 
the development of Family Hubs over the next financial year. Family Hubs are part of a national 
programme to ensure babies, children and families have the support they need, when they need it. This 
funding is being used to invest heavily in early help services to support families to get the right help in 
the right place at the right time. 

We remain committed to offering care leavers the best start to their adult life. We want to work with 
housing providers in the city to strengthen the accommodation offer made to care leavers. We will also 
continue to focus our efforts with partners on making sure the health needs of these young people are met 
and that they get the support they need to secure education, employment and training opportunities.

Education 
We have a legal duty (statutory responsibility) to provide education for every young person 
in Peterborough in schools, colleges and further education. Our key aim is to support them to 
achieve expected national standards. 

Those people who took part in our Budget Simulator told us they prioritised this area above others, on average.

There are currently 63 primary schools within the authority area, along with 15 secondary, eight special 
schools and three further education colleges. There were a total of 41,546 pupils in education locally at 
the end of the 2022/23 academic year. This is almost one fifth of the population of Peterborough.

Our education service has faced some unprecedented challenges in recent times, most notably working 
to support early years settings, schools and colleges following the Covid-19 pandemic, which stretched 
resources to the very maximum. 

A key challenge remains, which is providing enough places for every pupil living here as Peterborough’s 
population continues to grow rapidly and significant numbers of families with school age children move 
into Peterborough.

In the academic year 2022-2023, our School Admissions Team processed a total of 5,901 applications 
for school places – that’s 2,100 more applications than the previous academic year.  

A high number of children and families moved into Peterborough over the school summer holidays 
this year which is continuing to place pressure on our schools. Additional spaces are needed now and 
demand for places is likely to continue to grow in the future.

This rising school population is also creating an increased demand for school transport which places 
an additional financial pressure on the local authority. In certain circumstances, free home-to-school 
transport is provided for some children who can’t attend their nearest school and the school they 
attend is above a certain distance or is unsafe to walk from their home. 

53



20   Budget Consultation 2024/25

We also provide transport for eligible children with an education, health and care plan, and some 
children with free school meals or with parents/carers on benefits and on some religious/faith grounds. 
Peterborough currently provides school transport for around 2,400 children, of which 870 are children 
with special educational needs.

We have expanded the school transport team and continue to review contracts to ensure they are 
providing the best service and value for money.  However, we are spending more than we budgeted for 
due to the statutory requirements to provide transport for some children to get to school.

Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) numbers are expected to increase over the next five 
years, as they are in many parts of the country. We are developing three new hubs in the city to meet the 
needs of children with Autism and Social, Emotional, Mental Health (SEMH)  needs. We will be visiting those 
schools that have shown interest in becoming a hub. A number of capital projects (new buildings) are also 
in the pipeline that will, in the long-term, increase capacity in the city for children with SEND needs.

Despite these challenges, we are seeing some encouraging progress in our schools and significant 
rises in several league tables. In the national ‘progress 8’ table which measures how far young people 
progress in their education across secondary education for eight subjects, the improvement by 0.24 is 
a substantial rise. It is also the first time Peterborough has had a positive progress 8 outcome. Out of 
the 151 local authorities, this places Peterborough as 38th nationally, up from 107 previously. 

There are similar successes in our primary schools. The progress pupils make in their learning between 
the ages of 7 and 11 years has improved significantly. Consequently  this year Peterborough has moved 
up the league tables by 16 places in reading, 11 places in writing and 27 places in mathematics.

We have built strong relationships with all our early years settings, schools and colleges, proactively 
setting up head teacher groups to ensure regular dialogue and effective problem solving. 

There has been a fall in the number of annual births, which has led to a lower demand for early years and 
younger primary school places. In the spring budget, the Government announced an expansion of the 
childcare offer, offering funded childcare places for children from nine months old, for working parents, with 
a phased introduction over the next two years, which will increase the demand for childcare places.

We have invested in the Statutory Assessment Team (SAMS) and Educational Psychology Team (EPS) to 
ensure capacity to respond to significant increases in demand and fulfill the council’s statutory duties for 
SEND children to assess their needs and where appropriate coordinate plans to meet those needs.

Public Health 
We have a duty to improve and protect the health of everyone who lives in Peterborough. More 
broadly this is about living for longer in good health, reducing inequalities in health and making 
sure that children have good outcomes that lead to a long and healthy life. 

We buy in services from other organisations that support healthier lifestyles, identify issues early and 
prevent problems escalating which includes:

•  School nurses and health visitors (Healthy Child Programme) – last year, we funded approximately 
10,000 visits to children and families by health visitors. This program enables all families with a new baby 
to get support to improve health and wellbeing and identify any issues early. 

• There were nearly 5,000 contacts with young people through Chathealth (a confidential text 
messaging service for children and young people aged 11-19) and approximately 4,000 calls and 
3,500 texts to our Healthy Child Programme (0-19) duty desk in 2022/23.

54



Budget Consultation 2024/25  21

• Help to stop smoking – 1,203 people set quit dates and we helped 433 people quit smoking last year .

• Improving sexual and reproductive health through information and support in 2022/23, people 
in Peterborough attended 15,195 sexual health clinic appointments and 4,000 adults and young 
people accessed regular outreach sessions.

•  Reducing drug and alcohol misuse – 1,638 adults and 124 young people aged 12-18 used these 
services during 2022/23.

•  NHS health checks – 4,053 NHS health checks were delivered by our providers in 22/23.  These 
checks are for people aged between 40 and 74 to assess an individual’s general health including 
their weight, blood pressure and cholesterol. The NHS health check is designed to spot early signs 
of stroke, kidney disease, heart disease, type 2 diabetes or dementia. 

• Weight management – 417 people lost 5 per cent or more of their weight through a Tier 2 adult 
weight management course last year - considerably higher than the national average.

Investing in public health services not only provides health benefits to those who engage with us, but 
reduces pressure on other public services and saves money in the long term. 

Public Health funding is a key challenge with Peterborough residents receiving less per head in the public 
health (PH) grant than they should based on need. The total PH grant for Peterborough is currently £11.9m 
or £55.22 per head , compared to £73.12 per head for other similar sized local authorities. 

Many of our residents – across all ages, but particularly in deprived areas – benefit from these public 
health services. Our population increase means demand is likely to grow further in the future. For 
instance, there has been a 24 per cent increase in children under 15 over the past 10 years, many with 
a high level of need, for example, 38.5 per cent of our Year 6 children are overweight or obese and a 
quarter of our children live in relative poverty.

 To address these issues, the Health and Wellbeing Integrated Care Strategy has highlighted three 
main goals by 2030

Increase the number of years people spend in good health 

Reduce inequalities in preventable deaths before the age of 75 

Achieve better outcomes for our children 

How do we do this? 

By making sure our children are ready to start school and are prepared for their lives 
after they finish education

By creating an environment to give people the opportunity to be as healthy as can be

By reducing poverty through better employment, skills and housing

Promoting early intervention and prevention around mental health and wellbeing.

We will work with partners and those who need our services to look at ways we can best meet  
their needs.

55



22   Budget Consultation 2024/25

Corporate Services  
There are a number of essential professional support services the council needs to keep it 
operating effectively. They provide vital support to services across the council to allow them  
to function.

In the council’s Budget Simulator exercise, those who responded opted for a higher reduction in budget 
for Corporate Services compared to some of the other service areas listed. This may be because those 
who took part did not fully understand how vital services such as finance and HR are to the smooth 
running of most front-line services, such as care for the elderly and vulnerable and the maintenance 
of roads. However, it should be noted that significant savings have been identified within Corporate 
Services, relating to Property Services, IT, Finance and the cost of debt management.

The areas which make up Corporate Services are:

Finance - ensures there is an effective system of financial control to manage budgets and monitor 
spending and is responsible for ensuring the council prepares statutory accounts - something it is 
legally required to do. It also prepares the Medium-Term Financial Strategy which sets out how the 
council plans to spend its money to deliver council priorities. 

Legal - provides legal advice to the council’s departments and to councillors and represents the council 
in court. It also takes legal action on behalf of the authority, such as trading standards and fly-tipping 
prosecutions.  

HR and development – supports with changes in staffing, the effective recruitment and development 
of our people and managing their performance, as well as ensuring our policies and processes are 
compliant with employment legislation, easy to understand and supportive.

Communications – provides information for the public about council services, public information 
and campaigns.  It also engages with staff and external stakeholders. The team manages the council’s 
website and social media channels and liaises with the media on council issues and initiatives.

Commercial property and asset management - responsible for managing the day-to-day activities 
across the council’s estate and manages all landlord and tenant activities. It supports the council in 
bringing forward large regeneration, development and construction projects and looks after our 
properties making sure they are compliant, in good condition and fit for purpose.

Commercial and procurement – responsible for all the council’s procurement activities (buying in 
goods and services) and provides strategic guidance and oversight on key commercial contracts. It 
leads the annual procurement plan which aims to make sure the goods and services we procure are fit 
for purpose and at the best possible price. 

Health and safety – ensures the council maintains up-to-date policies and procedures, provides 
training, audits service delivery and manages incidents.

IT and digital – the enabler for all services within the council, supporting them in achieving their own 
aims and requirements while prioritising the customer journey. Everything our staff do requires access 
to IT in a secure and compliant manner.  

Constitutional and democratic services – supports around 80 public meetings each year and the 

56



Budget Consultation 2024/25  23

organisation of civic events, such as Remembrance events, and flag raising ceremonies. Electoral 
Services is responsible for running local elections which includes managing and publishing an up-to-
date and accurate register of voters so everybody entitled to vote can do so.

In recent months, we have redesigned our finance and communication teams to ensure they are able to 
meet the demands of the council and can support it to deliver the priorities of the Corporate Strategy.

The HR and Legal teams are currently under consideration for the same reasons. We are investing 
in our HR service. Reviews and benchmarking of this service revealed that we are currently under-
resourced and there is a need for extra resource. The Health and Safety Service has also recently been 
subject to a review and we are in the process of recruiting a new Head of Health and Safety.

We are developing a new Asset Management Plan which sets out how we will invest in assets which 
support our Corporate Plan and dispose of those that don’t, thereby reducing our capital programme 
and borrowing costs.  A review of the council’s buildings and assets is underway as a result, and this is 
expected to generate a saving in the region of £146,000 in 2024/25.

As part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy work we have identified a number of areas which 
will place financial pressure on the council over the next three years. These include:

•  Staff pay award – this is yet unknown, but it is likely unions will negotiate a pay settlement in 
2024/25. We are factoring in a £1.2m pressure.

• Capital financing – the debt we need to refinance will cost us more because of higher interest 
rates. This is generating a £1m pressure. However, we also 
generate higher rates of return on our temporary 
investment balances, which partly off-sets the 
pressure.

• Significant increases in energy costs 
– this is predicted to generate a 
pressure of £3m in 2024/25. 
To offset this pressure, we 
are looking at options for 
energy efficiency, energy 
generation and grants that 
may be available.

Peterborough is not alone in 
each of these areas. Every 
other council nationally is 
experiencing similar challenges 
and budget pressures.

In addition, we continue to 
negotiate with Serco on the 
services it provides on behalf 
of the council and the future 
arrangements for this contract.

57



24   Budget Consultation 2024/25

Our Consultation 
We want to hear the opinions of residents, partner organisations, businesses, and other interested 
parties as part of the budget setting process.

You can give your opinions by completing an online survey on the city 
council website www.peterborough.gov.uk/budget  

Paper copies can be requested by emailing communications@peterborough.gov.uk. 

The consultation will launch on Monday 4 December 2023  
and close at midnight on 7 January 2024. 

Our Joint Scrutiny Committee will consider the council’s budget and your feedback 
on 22 January 2024. It will be considered by the Cabinet on 12 February 2024.

Please do not include any information in your answers that will identify you or people you know.

Questions 
1  The council is meeting its budget challenge in a variety of different ways as outlined below. 

 Place in order of priority (1-6) the measures outlined below  
(1 being the most important and 6 being the least important).

Generating 
additional 

income

Introducing and 
increasing fees 
and charges for 
some services

Increasing 
council tax

Using  
reserves 

Reducing 
services

Changing 
services

2   The council is maximising its use of technology and digitalisation and transforming working 
practises to make the council more efficient. 

 To what extent do you agree with this approach?

Strongly Agree Agree Slightly Disagree Strongly Disagree

3  To what extent do you agree or disagree that we should protect services that support the 
city’s most vulnerable, including adults and children’s social care services and education.

 Even if this means some other services will have to be delivered differently or reduced?

Strongly Agree Agree Slightly Disagree Strongly Disagree

4  To what extent do you agree or disagree with our approach to increase council tax in line 
with the maximum referendum limit (4.99 per cent) to ensure the council is best placed to 
continue providing the same range and quality of services?

Strongly Agree Agree Slightly Disagree Strongly Disagree

58



Budget Consultation 2024/25  25

5   The council works hard to recruit foster carers but with the number of children needing 
placements being greater than our number of carers, we have to use private fostering 
agencies, placing children away from the local area. 

 What could the council do to make fostering a more attractive offer for residents?

6   Do you have any other comments to make about the council’s spending, service delivery or 
this budget consultation?

59



26   Budget Consultation 2024/25

About you 
We are asking the following questions so we can check the response to our survey is 
representative of Peterborough. The information won’t be used to identify you in any way. 
We don’t ask for any information that will enable us to identify you. 

You can find out more about how we use personal data here  
www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/council-data/corporate-privacy-notice

So that we can check this survey is representative of Peterborough overall, please complete the 
following questions. Please note that all questions are optional – you do not have to respond.

Are you?

Male Female Prefer not to say Prefer another term

Please indicate your age range: 

Under 18  18-24  25-34  35-44

 45-54  55-59  60-64  65-69

 70-79  80 or over  Prefer not to say

Which of the following best describes you? 

Employed full time Employed part time Self-employed Unemployed 
actively seeking work

  Unemployed not 
actively seeking work

Full time student 
over 18

  Full time student 
under 18

 Stay at home 
parent

Retired Carer Unable to work Prefer not to say

Do you work in the Peterborough City Council area?

Yes No Prefer not to say

Can you give us your home postcode?  
We would like this to know that you live in Peterborough or visit the city.

Yes No         

60



Budget Consultation 2024/25  27

What is your ethnic group? 

White English / Welsh / Scottish / Northern Irish
British Gypsy or Irish Traveller  
Any other white background 

Mixed / multiple ethnic groups
White and Black Caribbean
White and Black African 
White and Asian
Any other mixed / multiple ethnic background 

Asian / Asian British Indian Pakistani Bangladeshi Chinese 
Any other Asian background

Black/ African / Caribbean / Black British
African Caribbean  
Any other Black / African/ Caribbean background 

Other ethnic group / Any other ethnic group  

Do you consider yourself to have a disability?

Yes No Prefer not to say

Thank you for taking the time to complete this survey

61



www.peterborough.gov.uk

62


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Cabinet Meeting - 13 November 2023
	5 Extension of the Learning Disability Day Opportunities Contracts in Peterborough
	Appendix 1 - What a good Day Opportunity looks like

	6 Extra Care Housing Contract Award
	EXEMPT Annex - Extra Care Housing Award 2023

	7 Budget Consultation 2024/25 Launch
	Appendix A - PCC Budget consultation booklet 2023-24


